# Yale University

# EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

Yale School of Medicine Physician Associate Program Theses

School of Medicine

5-22-2020

# Efficacy of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Ataxia and Functional Dependence Post-Cerebellar Stroke

Kaitlin Fitzgerald Yale Physician Associate Program, kaitlin.fitzgerald@yale.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysmpa\_theses

## **Recommended Citation**

Fitzgerald, Kaitlin, "Efficacy of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Ataxia and Functional Dependence Post-Cerebellar Stroke" (2020). *Yale School of Medicine Physician Associate Program Theses.* 13. https://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysmpa\_theses/13

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Medicine at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Yale School of Medicine Physician Associate Program Theses by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

# EFFICACY OF RHYTHMIC AUDITORY STIMULATION ON ATAXIA AND

# FUNCTIONAL DEPENDENCE POST-CEREBELLAR STROKE

A Thesis Presented to The Faculty of the School of Medicine Yale University

> In Candidacy for the degree of Master of Medical Science

> > May 2020

Kaitlin Fitzgerald, PA-SII Class of 2020 Yale Physician Associate Program. Dr. Diana Richardson, MD Assistant Clinical Professor Yale School of Medicine, Neurology

# Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	iv
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Ataxia	2
1.2 Cerebellar stroke	4
1.3 Motor recovery following stroke	5
1.4 Traditional stroke rehabilitation	5
1.5 Music therapy	7
1.6 Music therapy in stroke rehabilitation	8
1.7 Music therapy outside of stroke	9
1.8 Statement of the problem	10
1.9 Goals and objectives	11
1.10 Hypothesis	11
1.11 Definitions	12
1.12 References	13
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	24
<ul> <li>2.1 Review of Relevant Literature</li></ul>	<b>25</b> 25 27 29 32 33 36
2.1.6 Music therapy in other movement disorders	
2.2.1 Study design	
2.2.2 Patient Selection 2.2.3 Clinical management	43
2.2.4 Experimental Condition	
2.2.6 Primary outcomes	
2.2.8 Sample size rationale	49
2.2.9 Estimated recruitment sites	51
2.2.10 Confounding	51
2.3 Conclusion	51
2.4 References	53
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	73
3.1 Study design	74
3.2 Procedures and site selection	74

	3.3 Study population and sampling75
	3.4 Subject confidentiality76
	3.5 Study variables and measures76
	3.6 Methodology considerations
	3.7 Randomization procedure and assignment of intervention79
	3.8 Blinding79
	3.9 Adherence
	3.10 Monitoring of adverse events
	3.11 Data collection80
	3.12 Sample size calculation81
	3.13 Analysis
	3.14 Timeline82
	3.16 Resources & Personnel82
	3.2 References
(	CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS 86
	4.1 Advantages
	4.2 Disadvantages
1	APPENDICES
	Appendix A: Single Session RAS Gait Training Protocol87
	Appendix B: RAS Gait Training and Assessment Schedule86
	Appendix C: Sample Size Calculation86
	Appendix D: Letter to Clinical Service Lines
	Appendix E: CONSORT Diagram of Participant Recruitment and Enrollment87
	Appendix F: Structured Phone Call Screening Interview86
	Appendix G: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria88
	Appendix H: Informed Consent Forms86
	Appendix I: Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA)91
	Appendix J: Modified Rankin Scale (mRS)93
	Appendix K: Patient Fall Questionnaire94
	Appendix L: Patient Baseline Characteristics86
	Appendix M: Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation (RAS) Treatment Protocol86
	Appendix N: Timeline for Patient Recruitment and Data Collection86
1	BIBLIOGRAPHY

# ABSTRACT

Ataxia, from Greek meaning, "lack of order," is described as irregular movement and discoordination of body, gait, eyes, and speech. Ataxia is associated with cerebellar damage due to stroke and other cerebellar pathologies. Ataxia frequently results in functional impairment. Standard physical and occupational therapies in stroke rehabilitation facilitate motor recovery, especially within 90 days. However, many patients experience movement derangements beyond this time frame. Rhythmic auditory stimulation has been shown to be an effective intervention in chronic motor deficits like those observed after cerebellar stroke. Efficacy among patients with chronic stroke-induced ataxia is unexplored. This randomized control trial seeks to determine the benefit of rhythmic auditory stimulation over standard of care for rehabilitation of cerebellar stroke-induced ataxia. Patient progress will be assessed using validated disability and ataxia scales. It is projected that rhythmic auditory stimulation will improve ataxia and independence among patients with chronic disability post-cerebellar stroke, versus standard rehabilitation.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Ataxia

Ataxia characteristically causes a disruption of normal movement. Primary features of ataxia include changes in rate, quality, and performance of movement. Secondary characteristics include delayed movement initiation, inability to maintain consistent force, incoordination, dysmetria, and tremor. In a clinical setting, delayed movement initiation can be observed and detected in visuomotor tracking tasks. For example, during an examination, a patient is asked to use their index finger to mirror an examiner's finger as sudden, rapid horizontal arm movements are made in the air. Patients may also exhibit delayed reaction times; depressed motor responses; and, an inability to maintain constant force. These deficits manifest as difficulty with isometric grip force; difficulty handling and lifting objects between fingers; and, impaired fine movements. Dysmetria is typified by undershooting or overshooting of intended limb positions, such as when approaching a target, and often involves misjudgments of distance or scale. When affecting the lower limbs, dysmetria causes under- and overstepping, influencing gait dynamics, balance, and posture. Involuntary rhythmic, oscillatory body movements are referred to as tremor; and, are often exaggerated during goal-directed movements. A heightened sensitivity of this intention-based tremor to movement leads to further deviations in coordination and movement synergy.<sup>1-6</sup>

Motor impairments associated with ataxia are postulated to relate to loss of excitatory cerebellar input to the primary motor cortex in the cerebrum,<sup>7,8</sup> as well as to disruptions of complex pathways involving analysis and prediction of movement.<sup>9,10</sup> In patients with cerebellar stroke, ataxia has been associated with damage to specific vascular areas. Three paired arteries supply the cerebellum: the posterior inferior cerebellar artery (PICA), the anterior inferior cerebellar artery (AICA), and the superior cerebellar artery (SCA).<sup>11</sup> PICA infarction is associated with gait and postural instability, nystagmus, and

vertigo. Damage to the AICA is tied to dysmetria, Horner's syndrome, unilateral hearing loss, and ipsilateral facial paralysis or anesthesia with contralateral hemi-body sensory loss.<sup>12,13</sup> Damage to the SCA is most closely correlated with ataxia in cerebellar stroke patients. Lateralized cerebellar lesions generally produce ipsilateral motor dysfunctions, while diffuse lesions generate more symmetric derangements. Limb ataxia is noted to occur with damage to the cerebellar hemisphere, while isolated truncal and gait ataxia (with relative limb sparing) correlates with insult to the midline vermis.<sup>2</sup> Due to vast heterogeneity in vascular organization between patients, presentations of cerebellar stroke often overlap regardless of implicated vessel, especially in the case of hemorrhagic infarcts.<sup>12</sup>

On review of the literature on cerebellar stroke, some report that the PICA is the most commonly afflicted vascular territory, with estimates on PICA infarction ranging from 49-63%.<sup>12</sup> Damage to the SCA is thought to occur less frequently, with estimates approximating 16-18% of cerebellar stokes.<sup>14-16</sup> Yet, competing research suggests that SCA infarction may be equally or more prevalent than PICA infarct.<sup>17</sup> A minority of patients experience damage to two or more vascular regions. Regardless of affected territory, ataxia is the most commonly reported sign of cerebellar stroke, suggested by some reports to be present in 60 to nearly 100% of patients on presentation.<sup>11,18</sup>

Gait ataxia is frequently observed in patients with cerebellar damage, and is defined by a stumbling walking pattern; irregular foot placement; increased variability in step time and length; widened stance; and, abnormal joint torque.<sup>19,20</sup> Poor truncal motor control in ataxic patients contributes to gait abnormalities and loss of balance,<sup>21</sup> whether cerebellar insult is due to vascular disease or to a hereditary condition. The heightened risk of falls in these patients leads to decreased functional independence and decreased quality of life.<sup>22,23,24</sup>

#### 1.2 Cerebellar stroke

Each year, nearly 800,000 people in the United States are affected by stroke.<sup>25</sup> Of these, approximately 2-3% occur in the cerebellum.<sup>12</sup> Though a fraction of the size of the cerebrum, the cerebellum contains nearly 80% of the brain's neurons. It is believed to play a vital role in regulation of muscle tone and motor coordination, timing, and learning.<sup>26</sup> As with a cerebrovascular accident (CVA) in the cerebrum, a stroke in the cerebellum may be ischemic or hemorrhagic, both of which may lead to potentially devastating effects.

Despite the relatively low percentage of total strokes, cerebellar infarcts are associated with a disproportionate amount of morbidity and mortality.<sup>27</sup> Vasogenic edema is a complication in 17-54% of cerebellar stroke patients,<sup>28</sup> potentially causing numerous lifethreatening complications such as hydrocephalus; compression of the midbrain and pons; upward herniation of the superior vermis cerebelli through the tentorial notch; or, downward herniation of the cerebellar tonsils through the foramen magnum.<sup>28</sup> Risk of complication is increased by delayed or missed diagnosis.

Presentation of acute cerebellar stroke is often non-specific, with symptoms such as dizziness, headache, nausea, vomiting, vertigo, or unsteady gait.<sup>11</sup> Ataxia, with its characteristically distorted motor patterns, is believed to occur in 40-97% of patients during the acute or subacute period after cerebellar stroke.<sup>11,13,29,30</sup> Additionally, initial diagnostic workup utilizing CT scan is often inadequate for detection of cerebellar infarcts.<sup>16</sup> Magnetic resonance imaging with diffusion weighted imaging (DW-MRI) remains the gold standard<sup>12</sup>, but this is rarely the first modality used to evaluate stroke. There may be a failure to recognize stroke symptoms or an inability to obtain a good neurological examination, causing delay or misdiagnosis in over 25% of cases.<sup>16</sup>

Patients with cerebellar stroke who experience complications like hydrocephalus, brainstem compression, or herniation are more likely to undergo surgery and have poor outcomes than patients without such complications.<sup>28,31,32</sup> Those with more complex strokes often have persistent deficits in motor coordination and functional independence.<sup>13,14,17</sup> Gait ataxia is a frequent sign in patients with acute cerebellar stroke.<sup>18</sup> Studies suggest that ataxic gait persists in 20-50% of patients as a long-term functional disability.<sup>13,17,31,33</sup> Patients who survive are often at increased risk of falls and fear of falling.<sup>34</sup> Stroke patients who fall are twice as likely to sustain hip fracture compared to non-stroke patients.<sup>35</sup>

#### 1.3 Motor recovery following stroke

Evidence on long-term functional outcomes following cerebellar stroke is scarce, but existing research suggests that many patients continue to suffer chronic motor derangements and functional impairment despite standard rehabilitation.<sup>14,17,28,31,36</sup> It has been observed that motor recovery following cerebral strokes show a plateau in functional gains after a 90-day acute period.<sup>37,40</sup> The persistence of motor dysfunction appears to be more common in strokes with more severe injury at onset, e.g. larger infarcts, hemorrhagic strokes, and those with complications such as edema or herniation.<sup>17,41</sup> Many patients with chronic post-stroke motor impairments suffer reductions in functional independence, which is closely associated with the ability to ambulate independently.<sup>42</sup>

#### 1.4 Traditional stroke rehabilitation

There is a certain level of complexity to conducting large scale, rigorous clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of rehabilitation modalities. Aside from identifying an appropriate cohort group amongst a heterogeneous post-stroke population, there are vast differences in capability across rehabilitation interventions and facility protocols.<sup>30,43</sup> Physical therapies vary

in intensity, duration, and type of intervention, as well as degree of specialist involvement. With regards to specific therapeutic interventions for ataxia, investigations have focused on biofeedback; constraint-induced movement therapy; treadmill training; and, other innovations designed to facilitate motor recovery in stroke patients.<sup>44</sup> While many of these modalities appear promising, research has yet to provide evidence from adequately powered randomized control trials to indicate superiority of any novel methodology over another.<sup>45</sup>

The American Heart Association/American Stroke Association (AHA/ASA) guidelines provide traditional physical therapy (PT), occupational therapy (OT), and speech language therapy (SLT) for stroke patients to foster improvement of balance and walking, task-specific functional independence, and communication, respectively. These practices are the standard of care for stroke rehabilitation,<sup>30</sup> and are directed toward improvements in limb weakness, paralysis, and aphasia. Current research has failed to demonstrate efficacy of any one form of physical therapy over another, whether in cerebral or cerebellar stroke.<sup>46</sup>

Research indicates that the time between stroke onset and initiation of rehabilitation is crucial to maximize recovery outcomes. Specifically, distinctions have been made between functional gains made during the acute versus chronic stages of stroke. Rehabilitation within the acute period of time, defined up to 90 days, has shown the greatest amount of functional improvement.<sup>37,38,47</sup> Part of this immediate recovery is attributed to natural internal healing mechanisms, postulated to involve neural reorganization and compensatory input from nondamaged brain areas.<sup>48</sup> Motor improvements are facilitated through the use of rehabilitation techniques including PT, OT, and SLT, based on the clinical needs of the patient.<sup>44</sup> Beyond 90 days, formal PT and OT, as well as home-based aerobic and training programs, have been implemented for patients with persisting deficits.<sup>45</sup> Benefits of continuing interventions are believed to be marginal in comparison to those incurred over the first 90 days. It is unclear whether recovery differs between cerebral and cerebellar stroke. No separate standard of care exists for rehabilitation based on stroke location. Little definitive conclusion has been drawn regarding prognostic factors other than that greater functional impairment on admission and concurrent hemiparesis are linked to ataxia and poorer functional recovery after the acute period.<sup>15,29</sup> Additionally, SCA-related infarcts and those presenting with altered mental status appear to correlate inversely with functional recovery. The cause of this finding is believed to relate to edema causing brain stem compression and hydrocephalus, and is generally seen when larger territories are impacted by stroke.<sup>15</sup> In the cerebellum, lesion site may substantially influence outcomes for patients with cerebellar stroke, regardless of the dimensions of the impacted territory.<sup>49</sup> And, those with hemorrhagic lesions suffer more functional impairment compared to those with ischemic damage.<sup>15</sup>

#### 1.5 Music therapy

Music therapy is an emerging rehabilitative field that has been used to augment recovery in motor pathologies including stroke and degenerative cerebellar disorders.<sup>50,51</sup> Implemented by a board certified music therapist, music therapy is a broad field including techniques such as rhythmic auditory stimulation or cueing (RAS/C), music supported therapy (MST), and patterned sensory enhancement (PSE).<sup>52</sup> The mechanisms by which music therapy works to facilitate motor recovery are thought to involve neuroplasticity, emotional motivational effects, and entrainment of rhythmic auditory cues.<sup>53,54</sup>

The act of playing and making music incorporates inputs from auditory, sensory, and motor areas of the brain, and stimulates neuroplasticity.<sup>53,55</sup> Dynamic relationships between audio and motor regions appear to be enhanced by emotional and motivational relevance of musical stimuli, and engagement of neural reward networks.<sup>53,54</sup> Studies of MST, in which

patients train using the affected limb, have shown enhanced neuroplasticity in recovery for acute and chronic stroke patients.<sup>53,56,57</sup> Audio-motor coupling and enhanced synchronization of brain areas are thought to contribute to motor recovery in patients who undergo RAS training,<sup>58</sup> which uses external rhythmic auditory cues to promote gait recovery.

#### 1.6 Music therapy in stroke rehabilitation

To date, music therapy for motor difficulties after stroke has been reported primarily in cerebral stroke with residual hemiparesis.<sup>59-62</sup> Studies on MST are largely focused on recovery of upper extremity function. RAS has been utilized for gait enhancement in patients with acute and chronic abnormalities in gait, posture, and balance.<sup>51,62</sup> In patients with impaired gait patterns after stroke, use of RAS has produced improvements in gait velocity, stride length, and cadence.<sup>60,63,64</sup> Compared to rehabilitative strategies such as treadmill training (IT) or neurodevelopmental (NDT)/Bobath training (a widely-implemented poststroke physical rehabilitation approach),<sup>65</sup> RAS has produced superior gains in gait parameters.<sup>51,60</sup> Electromyography (EMG) of muscle activation in stroke patients has shown reduced amplitude variability with RAS, suggesting that rhythmic cues promote consistent timing and uniform motor recruitment through central mechanisms of action.<sup>59,62,64</sup>

Use of RAS in gait rehabilitation is thought to facilitate entrainment, the process by which the oscillatory frequency of an external stimulus is adopted by a "weaker" oscillator, producing synchronization of movements with the provided rhythm.<sup>66</sup> In the context of neuropathological processes and motor abnormalities, the weaker oscillator caused by brain injury, becomes entrained to externally cued rhythms of a metronome or music via proprioceptive feedback mechanisms. It has been suggested that the auditory feedback of music therapy acts somewhat like an external pacemaker, providing immediate feedback and

proprioceptive reafference. Through practice and repetition, discrepancy between footfall and auditory rhythm is minimized, eventually promoting a more stable, regular gait.<sup>67</sup>

There is little research on music therapy in cerebellar stroke and associated ataxia. Most of the literature on music therapy and gait focuses on patients with hemispheric stroke. Outcomes addressed in these studies include gait speed and symmetry. These metrics are subject to impairment in ataxia. Improvements in these metrics are promising for extension of RAS to patients with cerebellar stroke.<sup>68</sup> Few studies have explored the use of music therapy in relation to lesion site; yet, a small body of evidence suggests that motor deficits induced by cerebellar lesions are amenable to improvement with RAS.<sup>64</sup>

# 1.7 Music therapy outside of stroke

Music therapy has been explored as an intervention for other motor disorders.<sup>69</sup> A large portion of work on RAS has focused on its use among patients with Parkinson's disease (PD), as well as multiple sclerosis (MS), cerebral palsy (CP), and Huntington's disease (HD).<sup>50,64,70</sup> These disorders manifest similar dysfunctions in gait and movement, and parallel many motor impairments seen in stroke, despite the unique pathological etiologies of deficit.

In patients with PD, changes in motor function include tremor, rigidity, akinesia, bradykinesia, and postural instability.<sup>71</sup> These symptoms are comparable to motor abnormalities seen in HD and MS patients. These patients may experience an inability to ambulate normally due to tremor, spasticity, ataxia, and disequilibrium.<sup>72</sup> Patients with CP share analogous motor impairments involving postural instability and dystonia (abnormal muscular contractures) and joint subluxation.

Patients with motor abnormalities and gait impairment due to these pathologies have benefited from rhythmic auditory cueing to reduce gait variability and improve function.<sup>73-77</sup>

With use of RAS, patients with PD and MS have shown measurable increases in stride length and swing time, which clinically fosters a reduction in falls.<sup>50,75</sup> Freezing of gait, seen in patients with PD, appears amenable to improvement with use of RAS as well.<sup>78</sup> Patients with CP and dysfunctional joint flexion and contractures have experienced amelioration of abnormalities with RAS training.<sup>79,80</sup> Patients with HD have demonstrated improvements in walking speed with RAS.<sup>81</sup>

Due to observed parallels between cerebellar stroke-induced motor abnormalities and those seen in PD, MS, CP, and HD, the use of RAS in cerebellar stroke is promising. It remains unclear whether motor dysfunction and gait impairment in patients with chronic cerebellar stroke is amenable to improvement with RAS. Analyses of gait impairments in patients with PD indicate distinct spatiotemporal irregularities compared to patients with cerebellar ataxia.<sup>82,83</sup> One can speculate whether neuroplasticity offers partial compensation by recruiting healthy cerebellar networks in these patients.<sup>50</sup> It is possible that similar RASfacilitated therapies will result in comparable improvements in those with cerebellar stroke.

#### 1.8 Statement of the problem

Wide gaps exist in the research of long-term outcomes and rehabilitative strategies for patients with chronic cerebellar stroke. Many experience persistent ataxic gait impairments and functional deficits. Little work has assessed therapeutic interventions in this specific group. Available studies fall short of adequately operationalizing ataxia using clinically validated scales. While rehabilitation utilizing PT and OT remains the standard of care for stroke, these therapies are limited in producing motor recovery after an acute period of 90 days, and potential benefits of other approaches remain unexplored or inconclusive. Music therapy has been proposed as a promising rehabilitative approach for individuals with

motor deficits due to stroke. RAS is associated with gait improvement in acute and chronic stroke patients, as well as in patients with neurological disorders such as PD, MS, CP, and HD. The adoption of RAS, and implications and possible benefits for RAS in patients with chronic post-stroke cerebellar ataxia, warrants additional clinical investigation.

## 1.9 Goals and objectives

The proposed study seeks to explore how rhythmic auditory stimulation compares to the standard of care (PT/OT) in outcomes of 1) improvement in ataxia and 2) improvement in functional independence, for patients with chronic ataxia following cerebellar stroke. Subjects will be randomized to interventions, either RAS or standard of care (PT/OT). They will participate in regularly scheduled therapy and undergo rating with the use of the two scales: Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) and Modified Rankin Scale (mRS). Data will be collected over six months. It is anticipated that those who undergo intervention with RAS will demonstrate superior improvements in ataxia and functional independence, compared to those receiving standard of care rehabilitation techniques. Thus, RAS may hold potential as an approach to continued motor rehabilitation during a period of time generally regarded as resistant to improvement in post-cerebellar stroke patients.

#### 1.10 Hypothesis

The implementation of RAS therapy over six months for patients with chronic ataxia and functional impairment post-cerebellar stroke, will produce a difference in the proportion of patients who achieve functional independence as measured by the Modified Rankin scale (mRS); and, change in ataxic symptoms as assessed by the Scale for Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA), in comparison to patients who receive standard of care (PT/OT).

#### 1.11 Definitions

<u>Acute</u>: definition of the acute period following stroke lacks standardization across studies. For the purpose of this study, the acute period refers to the first 90 days after stroke onset, as it is generally agreed upon that the majority of motor recovery occurs during this time.<sup>37,38</sup> <u>Chronic</u>: the chronic phase of stroke is defined here as the time beyond 90 days from stroke onset, during which time persistent ataxia and functional deficits have been noted.<sup>13,14,68,84</sup> <u>Cerebellar stroke</u>: cerebellar stroke is defined as ischemic or hemorrhagic cerebrovascular accident originating from damage to the vascular structures of the cerebellum.<sup>12</sup> Lesions may be embolic, thrombotic, or originating from vascular dissection or small artery disease.<sup>11</sup> <u>Ataxia:</u> ataxia is a clinical sign characterized by delayed initiation of movement, inability to maintain consistent force, incoordination, dysmetria, and tremor.<sup>14</sup> Clinically validated scales for assessment of ataxia include the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) and International Cooperative Ataxia Rating Scale (ICARS).<sup>68,85</sup>

<u>Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation (RAS)</u>: a subcategory of music therapy, RAS is a motor rehabilitation technique requiring participants to walk to the beat of a metronome or rhythmically-enhanced music. Cue frequency may be adjusted according to patient ability.<sup>50,59</sup> <u>Standard of care</u>: the standard of care for stroke rehabilitation consists of a multimodal approach incorporating physical therapy (PT), occupational therapy (OT), and speech language therapy (SLT).<sup>30</sup> Within this study, which focuses on motor performance and rehabilitation, standard of care includes PT and OT services.

# 1.12 References

- 1. Diener HC, Dichgans J. Pathophysiology of cerebellar ataxia. *Mov Disord.* 1992;7(2):95-109.
- 2. Ashizawa T, Xia G. Ataxia. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)*. 2016;22(4 Movement Disorders):1208-1226.
- 3. Akbar U, Ashizawa T. Ataxia. Neurologic clinics. 2015;33(1):225-248.
- 4. Marsden J, Harris C. Cerebellar ataxia: pathophysiology and rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2011;25(3):195-216.
- 5. Mai N, Diener H-C, Dichgans J. On the role of feedback in maintaining constant grip force in patients with cerebellar disease. *Neuroscience Letters*. 1989;99(3):340-344.
- 6. Kornegay JN. Ataxia, dysmetria, tremor. Cerebellar diseases. *Probl Vet Med.* 1991;3(3):409-416.
- 7. Cury RG, Teixeira MJ, Galhardoni R, et al. Neuronavigation-guided transcranial magnetic stimulation of the dentate nucleus improves cerebellar ataxia: A sham-controlled, double-blind n = 1 study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord.* 2015;21(8):999-1001.
- 8. Farias da Guarda SN, Cohen LG, da Cunha Pinho M, et al. Interhemispheric asymmetry of corticomotor excitability after chronic cerebellar infarcts. *Cerebellum*. 2010;9(3):398-404.
- 9. Wolpert DM, Miall RC, Kawato M. Internal models in the cerebellum. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 1998;2(9):338-347.
- 10. Stein J. Cerebellar forward models to control movement. *J Physiol.* 2009;587(2):299-299.
- 11. Edlow JA, Newman-Toker DE, Savitz SI. Diagnosis and initial management of cerebellar infarction. *Lancet Neurol.* 2008;7(10):951-964.
- 12. Ioannides K, Tadi P, Naqvi IA. Cerebellar Infarct. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2019.
- 13. Bultmann U, Pierscianek D, Gizewski ER, et al. Functional recovery and rehabilitation of postural impairment and gait ataxia in patients with acute cerebellar stroke. *Gait Posture*. 2014;39(1):563-569.
- 14. Cano LM, Cardona P, Quesada H, Mora P, Rubio F. [Cerebellar infarction: prognosis and complications of vascular territories]. *Neurologia*. 2012;27(6):330-335.
- 15. Kelly PJ, Stein J, Shafqat S, et al. Functional Recovery After Rehabilitation for Cerebellar Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(2):530-534.
- 16. Masuda Y, Tei H, Shimizu S, Uchiyama S. Factors Associated with the Misdiagnosis of Cerebellar Infarction. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*. 2013;22(7):1125-1130.
- 17. Tohgi H, Takahashi S, Chiba K, Hirata Y. Cerebellar infarction. Clinical and neuroimaging analysis in 293 patients. The Tohoku Cerebellar Infarction Study Group. *Stroke*. 1993;24(11):1697-1701.
- Teasell R, Foley N, Doherty T, Finestone H. Clinical characteristics of patients with brainstem strokes admitted to a rehabilitation unit. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(7):1013-1016.
- Belas Dos Santos M, Barros de Oliveira C, Dos Santos A, Garabello Pires C, Dylewski V, Arida RM. A Comparative Study of Conventional Physiotherapy versus Robot-Assisted Gait Training Associated to Physiotherapy in Individuals with Ataxia after Stroke. *Behav Neurol.* 2018;2018:2892065.

- 20. Stolze H, Klebe S, Petersen G, et al. Typical features of cerebellar ataxic gait. *Journal* of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry. 2002;73(3):310-312.
- Choi SW, Han N, Jung SH, Kim HD, Eom MJ, Bae HW. Evaluation of Ataxia in Mild Ischemic Stroke Patients Using the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA). *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2018;42(3):375-383.
- 22. Hausdorff JM, Rios DA, Edelberg HK. Gait variability and fall risk in communityliving older adults: a 1-year prospective study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2001;82(8):1050-1056.
- 23. Fonteyn EMR, Schmitz-Hübsch T, Verstappen CC, et al. Falls in Spinocerebellar Ataxias: Results of the EuroSCA Fall Study. *The Cerebellum.* 2010;9(2):232-239.
- 24. van de Warrenburg BPC, Steijns JAG, Munneke M, Kremer BPH, Bloem BR. Falls in degenerative cerebellar ataxias. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(4):497-500.
- 25. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2016 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2016;133(4):e38-360.
- 26. Roostaei T, Nazeri A, Sahraian MA, Minagar A. The human cerebellum: a review of physiologic neuroanatomy. *Neurol Clin.* 2014;32(4):859-869.
- 27. Macdonell RA, Kalnins RM, Donnan GA. Cerebellar infarction: natural history, prognosis, and pathology. *Stroke*. 1987;18(5):849-855.
- 28. Juttler E, Schweickert S, Ringleb PA, Huttner HB, Kohrmann M, Aschoff A. Longterm outcome after surgical treatment for space-occupying cerebellar infarction: experience in 56 patients. *Stroke*. 2009;40(9):3060-3066.
- 29. Chua KS, Kong KH. Functional outcome in brain stem stroke patients after rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1996;77(2):194-197.
- 30. Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, et al. Guidelines for Adult Stroke Rehabilitation and Recovery. *Stroke*. 2016;47(6):e98-e169.
- 31. Pfefferkorn T, Eppinger U, Linn J, et al. Long-term outcome after suboccipital decompressive craniectomy for malignant cerebellar infarction. *Stroke*. 2009;40(9):3045-3050.
- 32. Hornig CR, Rust DS, Busse O, Jauss M, Laun A. Space-occupying cerebellar infarction. Clinical course and prognosis. *Stroke*. 1994;25(2):372-374.
- 33. Ng ZX, Yang WR, Seet E, et al. Cerebellar strokes: a clinical outcome review of 79 cases. *Singapore Med J.* 2015;56(3):145-149.
- 34. Goh HT, Nadarajah M, Hamzah NB, Varadan P, Tan MP. Falls and Fear of Falling After Stroke: A Case-Control Study. *Pm r.* 2016;8(12):1173-1180.
- 35. Pouwels S, Lalmohamed A, Leufkens B, et al. Risk of Hip/Femur Fracture After Stroke. *Stroke*. 2009;40(10):3281-3285.
- Calic Z, Cappelen-Smith C, Cuganesan R, Anderson CS, Welgampola M, Cordato DJ. Frequency, Aetiology, and Outcome of Small Cerebellar Infarction. *Cerebrovascular diseases extra.* 2017;7(3):173-180.
- 37. Cramer SC. Repairing the human brain after stroke: I. Mechanisms of spontaneous recovery. *Annals of Neurology*. 2008;63(3):272-287.
- 38. Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of walking function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1995;76(1):27-32.
- Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Horner RD, Landsman PB, Samsa GP, Matchar DB. Similar motor recovery of upper and lower extremities after stroke. *Stroke*. 1994;25(6):1181-1188.

- 40. Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Matchar D, Divine GW, Feussner J. Measurement of motor recovery after stroke. Outcome assessment and sample size requirements. *Stroke*. 1992;23(8):1084-1089.
- 41. Nickel A, Cheng B, Pinnschmidt H, et al. Clinical Outcome of Isolated Cerebellar Stroke—A Prospective Observational Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2018;9(580).
- 42. Broderick JP, Adeoye O, Elm J. Evolution of the Modified Rankin Scale and Its Use in Future Stroke Trials. *Stroke*. 2017;48(7):2007-2012.
- 43. Martin CL, Tan D, Bragge P, Bialocerkowski A. Effectiveness of physiotherapy for adults with cerebellar dysfunction: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2009;23(1):15-26.
- 44. Langhorne P, Bernhardt J, Kwakkel G. Stroke rehabilitation. *The Lancet*. 2011;377(9778):1693-1702.
- 45. Dobkin BH, Dorsch A. New evidence for therapies in stroke rehabilitation. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2013;15(6):331-331.
- 46. Pollock A, Baer G, Campbell P, et al. Physical rehabilitation approaches for the recovery of function and mobility following stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014(4):Cd001920.
- 47. Verheyden G, Nieuwboer A, De Wit L, et al. Time Course of Trunk, Arm, Leg, and Functional Recovery After Ischemic Stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2007;22(2):173-179.
- 48. Kinomoto K, Takayama Y, Watanabe T, et al. The mechanisms of recovery from cerebellar infarction: an fMRI study. *Neuroreport.* 2003;14(13):1671-1675.
- 49. Ilg W, Giese MA, Gizewski ER, Schoch B, Timmann D. The influence of focal cerebellar lesions on the control and adaptation of gait. *Brain.* 2008;131(Pt 11):2913-2927.
- 50. Devlin K, Alshaikh JT, Pantelyat A. Music Therapy and Music-Based Interventions for Movement Disorders. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2019;19(11):83.
- 51. Bradt J, Magee WL, Dileo C, Wheeler BL, McGilloway E. Music therapy for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2010(7):Cd006787.
- 52. Särkämö T, Tervaniemi M, Huotilainen M. Music perception and cognition: development, neural basis, and rehabilitative use of music. *WIREs Cognitive Science*. 2013;4(4):441-451.
- 53. Rodriguez-Fornells A, Rojo N, Amengual JL, Ripolles P, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. The involvement of audio-motor coupling in the music-supported therapy applied to stroke patients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2012;1252:282-293.
- Ripollés P, Rojo N, Grau-Sánchez J, et al. Music supported therapy promotes motor plasticity in individuals with chronic stroke. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*. 2016;10(4):1289-1307.
- 55. Wan CY, Schlaug G. Music making as a tool for promoting brain plasticity across the life span. *Neuroscientist.* 2010;16(5):566-577.
- 56. Rojo N, Amengual J, Juncadella M, et al. Music-supported therapy induces plasticity in the sensorimotor cortex in chronic stroke: a single-case study using multimodal imaging (fMRI-TMS). *Brain Inj.* 2011;25(7-8):787-793.
- 57. Amengual JL, Rojo N, Veciana de Las Heras M, et al. Sensorimotor plasticity after music-supported therapy in chronic stroke patients revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(4):e61883.
- 58. Ghai S, Ghai I. Effects of (music-based) rhythmic auditory cueing training on gait and posture post-stroke: A systematic review & dose-response meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9(1):2183.

- 59. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR. Rhythmic facilitation of gait training in hemiparetic stroke rehabilitation. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 1997;151(2):207-212.
- 60. Mainka S, Wissel J, Völler H, Evers S. The Use of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation to Optimize Treadmill Training for Stroke Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2018;9:755-755.
- 61. Schauer M, Mauritz KH. Musical motor feedback (MMF) in walking hemiparetic stroke patients: randomized trials of gait improvement. *Clin Rehabil.* 2003;17(7):713-722.
- 62. Yoo GE, Kim SJ. Rhythmic Auditory Cueing in Motor Rehabilitation for Stroke Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Music Ther.* 2016;53(2):149-177.
- 63. Magee WL, Clark I, Tamplin J, Bradt J. Music interventions for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;1:Cd006787.
- 64. Kobinata N, Ueno M, Imanishi Y, Yoshikawa H. Immediate effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait in stroke patients in relation to the lesion site. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2016;28(9):2441-2444.
- 65. Mikolajewska E. Associations between results of post-stroke NDT-Bobath rehabilitation in gait parameters, ADL and hand functions. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2013;22(5):731-738.
- 66. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Hoemberg V. Neurobiological foundations of neurologic music therapy: rhythmic entrainment and the motor system. *Front Psychol.* 2015;5:1185-1185.
- 67. Schneider S, Schonle PW, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. Using musical instruments to improve motor skill recovery following a stroke. *J Neurol.* 2007;254(10):1339-1346.
- 68. Schoch B, Regel JP, Frings M, et al. Reliability and validity of ICARS in focal cerebellar lesions. *Movement Disorders*. 2007;22(15):2162-2169.
- 69. Wittwer JE, Webster KE, Hill K. Rhythmic auditory cueing to improve walking in patients with neurological conditions other than Parkinson's disease--what is the evidence? *Disabil Rehabil.* 2013;35(2):164-176.
- Lim I, van Wegen E, de Goede C, et al. Effects of external rhythmical cueing on gait in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2005;19(7):695-713.
- 71. Ashoori A, Eagleman DM, Jankovic J. Effects of Auditory Rhythm and Music on Gait Disturbances in Parkinson's Disease. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2015;6:234-234.
- 72. Wajda DA, Sosnoff JJ. Cognitive-motor interference in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of evidence, correlates, and consequences. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:720856-720856.
- 73. Wright RL, Bevins JW, Pratt D, Sackley CM, Wing AM. Metronome Cueing of Walking Reduces Gait Variability after a Cerebellar Stroke. *Front Neurol.* 2016;7:84.
- 74. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR, Miller RA, Rathbun J, Brault JM. Rhythmic auditory stimulation in gait training for Parkinson's disease patients. *Mov Disord*. 1996;11(2):193-200.
- 75. Shahraki M, Sohrabi M, Taheri Torbati HR, Nikkhah K, NaeimiKia M. Effect of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait kinematic parameters of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Med Life*. 2017;10(1):33-37.
- 76. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, Cho SR. Differential effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation and neurodevelopmental treatment/Bobath on gait patterns in adults with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2012;26(10):904-914.

- 77. Thaut MH, Miltner R, Lange HW, Hurt CP, Hoemberg V. Velocity modulation and rhythmic synchronization of gait in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 1999;14(5):808-819.
- 78. Plotnik M, Shema S, Dorfman M, et al. A motor learning-based intervention to ameliorate freezing of gait in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol.* 2014;261(7):1329-1339.
- 79. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, et al. Changes in gait patterns with rhythmic auditory stimulation in adults with cerebral palsy. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2011;29(3):233-241.
- 80. Shin YK, Chong HJ, Kim SJ, Cho SR. Effect of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Hemiplegic Gait Patterns. *Yonsei Med J.* 2015;56(6):1703-1713.
- Bilney B, Morris ME, Churchyard A, Chiu E, Georgiou-Karistianis N. Evidence for a disorder of locomotor timing in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(1):51-57.
- 82. Ebersbach G, Sojer M, Valldeoriola F, et al. Comparative analysis of gait in Parkinson's disease, cerebellar ataxia and subcortical arteriosclerotic encephalopathy. *Brain.* 1999;122 (Pt 7):1349-1355.
- 83. Buckley E, Mazzà C, McNeill A. A systematic review of the gait characteristics associated with Cerebellar Ataxia. *Gait & Posture*. 2018;60:154-163.
- 84. Schoch B, Dimitrova A, Gizewski ER, Timmann D. Functional localization in the human cerebellum based on voxelwise statistical analysis: a study of 90 patients. *Neuroimage*. 2006;30(1):36-51.
- 85. Schmitz-Hübsch T, du Montcel ST, Baliko L, et al. Scale for the assessment and rating of ataxia. *Development of a new clinical scale*. 2006;66(11):1717-1720.

# CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Review of Relevant Literature

#### 2.1.1 The functional cerebellum

Anatomical organization of cerebellar circuits and their involvement in motor function is complex. We will first outline the role of the cerebellum in movement to facilitate understanding of the chronic motor deficits experienced by patients after cerebellar stroke. To simplify the systems of cerebellar function, two pathways may be observed: the afferent cortico-cerebellar-cortical circuit, and the efferent the dento-rubro-olivary circuit.<sup>86</sup>

The cortico-cerebellar-cortical circuit is comprised of afferent fibers from the frontal lobe, which travel to the cerebellar cortex via the middle cerebellar peduncle. Disruption of afferent signals from the frontal lobe is associated with metabolic depression of the contralateral cerebellar hemisphere.<sup>87,88</sup> Within the circuit, the dentato-rubro-thalamo-cortical tract conducts signals from the cerebellum. In this pathway, originating neurons travel from the dentate nucleus, through the superior cerebellar peduncle to contralateral red nucleus and ventrolateral thalamus, and finally to the motor cortex. Efferent signaling to the primary motor cortex has historically been considered the primary mechanism by which the cerebellum influences movement, but recent work suggests contributions from premotor cortical areas and regions of the basal ganglia.<sup>89</sup> The dento-rubro-olivary circuit, also known as the Guillain-Mollaret triangle, is comprised of efferent fibers from the dentate nucleus, which pass through the superior cerebellar peduncle to synapse on the contralateral red nucleus, which signals through the inferior cerebellar peduncle to synapse on the contralateral red nucleus, which signals through the inferior cerebellar peduncle to synapse on the contralateral red nucleus. The triangle acts as a regulatory feedback loop for motor activity.<sup>86</sup>

In recent years, conceptual theories on the ways in which cerebellar organization modulates movement and coordination have focused on two internal models.<sup>90,91</sup> The first,

the forward model, theorizes that the cerebellum is responsible for the processing of statedependent movement; that is, the prediction of sensory consequences of movement. These elements of movement include factors such as position or velocity, and calculation of estimations for the next state.<sup>9</sup> The second, inverse model, suggests that the cerebellum is an orchestrator of motor commands and explicit production of state changes, directly influencing motor commands to match desired sensory outcomes.<sup>9,10</sup>

The two models are proposed to work both independently and in tandem.<sup>92</sup> Work by Jueptner et al. (1997) undertook to explore the relative contributions of the cerebellum in processing sensory information versus active participation in movement generation. Using positron emission tomography (PET) to measure regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF), researchers compared local and spatial extents of cerebellar activation during active arm movement, passive arm movement, imagined motion, and actual motion. Measurements of local extent (as determined by % increase in rCBF at a location) and spatial extent (as determined by voxels) were nearly identical between active and passive arm movement (p >0.05), with only 12% more neuronal activity measured during active movement. This suggests a predominant role for the cerebellum in sensory processing. Similarly, imagined movements were associated with increases in rCBF in the neocerebellar hemisphere and vermis of the posterior lobe. This suggests a role for the cerebellum in movement planning.<sup>93</sup>

Motor outputs associated with the cerebellum are postulated to involve sensory integration of timing and coordination.<sup>94</sup> Time-dependent control relies on the accurate assessment of temporal intervals between sensory stimuli. Movement coordination is associated with state-dependent control, using estimates of body position and motion to determine future motion. Research by Diedrichsen and colleagues attempted to delineate between the two mechanisms which are both associated with the production of temporally

precise motor commands. Using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), they observed that altering the temporal distance between tasks varied the performance of spaced motor tasks such as the movement of a motor arm and an isometric thumb press. Timing of the thumb press was consistent with a time-dependent control hypothesis when the tasks did not overlap ( $t_{(5)} = 2.71$ ; p = 0.04). When tasks overlapped, changing the speed of the motor arm produced a timing change in the thumb press, as predicted by a state-dependent control hypothesis ( $t_{(5)} > 2.57$ ; p < 0.05). And, fMRI indicated robust cerebellar activation only with state-dependent control, suggesting a role for the cerebellum in estimations of state and organization as it pertains to coordination.<sup>95</sup> Thus, the cerebellum has been associated with error detection and determination of sensory discrepancies between predicted and actual consequences of movement as state-dependent control mechanisms. Blakemore et al. (2001) then used PET to measure rCBF to observe increased cerebellar activation when patients encountered a delay between self-produced hand movement and externally-produced tactile stimulation (p < 0.05). Increasing differences in temporal correspondence (between movement and stimulation) correlated to greater cerebellar activation, suggesting increasing inaccuracy of the forward model's sensory prediction.

#### 2.1.2 Cerebellar dysfunction

A large body of research conducted to broaden the understanding of the cerebellum is based on case studies using patients with focal cerebellar injuries. In the context of chronic cerebellar stroke, abnormal movement patterns and motor dysfunction have been frequently observed.<sup>96</sup> One of the more familiar of these works was published by Gordon Holmes in 1917. Presenting patients with cerebellar gunshot injuries, he observed unilateral muscle weakness and loss of muscular tone; slowed and irregular movements; loss of coordination;

tremor; and, dysmetria.<sup>97</sup> Cerebellar abnormalities due to various pathologies such as stroke, malignancy, multiple sclerosis, and spinocerebellar ataxias shared similar motor dysfunctions. The irregular limb movements of ataxia permeated to gait instability, incoordination, slurred speech, and nystagmus.<sup>98</sup> While ataxia is frequently observed following cerebellar stroke, few studies have directly addressed the prevalence of ataxia in the chronic phase.

In addition to abnormalities in motor execution, cerebellar damage has been linked with deficits in procedural learning.<sup>99</sup> Doyon et al. (1997) explored the role of the cerebellum by comparing performance of patients with Parkinson's disease (PD), cerebellar damage, and frontal lobe lesions, against healthy controls. Patients with cerebellar damage and those with severe PD were impaired during the late stages of acquisition of a visuomotor sequence and failed to improve with time as compared to healthy controls [F(2,44) = 9.81, p < 0.001]. The findings suggested that patients with cerebellar damage and PD fail in aspects of learning related to automatization and fine-tuning of movement.<sup>100</sup> Similar findings were reported by Lang et al. (2002), when comparing patients with cerebellar damage to healthy controls in performance of single and dual motor tasks. Echoing conclusions by Doyon et al. in 1997, patients in the cerebellar group performed poorly in comparison to controls (p < 0.001) when addressing components of automaticity such as movement completion and error.<sup>101</sup>

Interruption of visuomotor integration in patients with cerebellar damage does not appear to resolve. Work by Gómez-Beldarrain et al. (1998) explored effects of chronic focal cerebellar lesions on procedural motor learning using the serial timed reaction task (SRTT). Findings indicated that at 29 months ( $\pm$  22 months, range 6-66 months) as a mean time from unilateral cerebellar stroke, patients displayed a lack of procedural learning when using the ipsilesional hand to complete the SRTT versus controls (p < 0.005). Results were universal across patients with cerebellar damage, regardless of lesion location or vascular territory.<sup>102</sup>

Boyd and Winstein (2004) additionally observed non-resolving impairments in timing prediction by patients with chronic cerebellar stroke, despite preserved spatial accuracy. Stroke patients were assessed for differences in motor performance across practice sessions and at a retention test. Cerebellar patients and controls demonstrated reduced tracking errors over the practice period, but patients with chronic cerebellar lesions were unable to reduce lag time of tracking across sessions and at retention testing (p = 0.270). This suggests persistent temporal impairment, despite preserved accuracy in spatial tracking.<sup>103</sup>

#### 2.1.3 Functional impairment and ataxia in chronic cerebellar stroke

The complex interplay between excitatory and inhibitory cerebellar pathways limits understanding of the precise mechanism by which stroke induces ataxia. Yet, chronic motor dysfunction after cerebellar stroke is thought to be tied to persistent disruption of networks between the cerebellum and the primary motor cortex (M1). Such findings were observed by Farias da Guarda et al. (2010), using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) in patients with unilateral chronic cerebellar stroke to induce asymmetrical hemispheric excitation and to decrease short interval intracortical inhibition (SICI) in the contralesional M1, compared to the ipsilesional M1 and healthy controls (p = 0.048). Effects were notable for increased motor dexterity associated with decreased SICI (p = 0.003).<sup>8</sup> Using cerebellar intermittent theta burst stimulation (iTBS), Bonnì et al. (2014) modulated cortical-cerebellar pathways in patients with cerebellar injury, noting decreased cerebellar brain inhibition (p = 0.03) and increased intracortical facilitation (p < 0.05) compared to pre-iTBS recordings. Findings were accompanied by significant improvements in the posture and gait subscales of the modified ICARS (mICARS) (Wilcoxon test p = 0.02).<sup>104</sup> These observations indicate that ataxia and gait impairments are tied to alterations in cortico-cerebellar pathways.

Despite the prevalence of ataxia in patients presenting with cerebellar stroke, there have been few additional studies in this population. Research on ataxia has focused on observations of motor recovery during the acute phase of stroke, but fails to operationalize data using clinically validated ataxia scales such as the SARA or ICARS. Work by Chua and Kong (1997) explored functional outcomes in patients with brain stem stroke, observing significant improvements after rehabilitation programs, with nearly half of patients deemed "severely ataxic" upon admission and "mildly ataxic" upon discharge (p <0.001).<sup>29</sup>

Similar improvements were seen using the modified ICARS (mICARS) in work by Nickel et al. (2018), which assessed 15 cerebellar stroke patients throughout a 90-day acute recovery period. While noting substantial recovery of ataxia during this time, the study was limited by its inclusion only of patients with ischemic stroke, mostly isolated to the PICA region, with no brainstem involvement, and small lesion sizes<sup>41</sup> (median size reported by Nickel was 3.4 cm<sup>3</sup>, while lesions >20 cm<sup>3</sup> have been noted in other studies).<sup>33</sup> A study by Bultmann et al. (2014) included cerebellar stroke patients with a mean lesion volume over two times that reported by Nickel et al. (2018) and found that patients with cerebellar stroke continued to suffer gait-related ataxic symptoms at 90 days post-stroke. They experienced persistent impairments in total ICARS, ICARS gait subscale, ICARS lower limb subscale (p = 0.04, p = 0.02, p = 0.04), and gait speed (p =0.002).<sup>13</sup>

Regarding functional impairment, studies document residual deficits after a 90-day recovery period. In a multicenter study of nearly 300 cerebellar stroke patients, Tohgi et al. (1993) performed a 5-year review regarding clinical and prognostic factors and documented classified functional outcomes at 3 months post-stroke. The study included patients with infarctions in the SCA (52%), PICA (49%), and AICA (20%) vascular regions, and those with hemorrhagic transformation. Using unspecified assessment tools, most patients (69%) were classified as independent; 21% as dependent; 4% as bedridden; and, 5% had died. Of those with lesions to single vascular regions, researchers noted lower rates of independence in patients with SCA infarction (p < 0.005), as well as those with multiple vessels involved. Prognosis was worse for patients with poorer levels of consciousness on admission. Patients who underwent surgery were nearly split between independent and dependent outcomes.<sup>17</sup>

A number of smaller studies on long-term outcomes of cerebellar stroke have similar findings to those observed by Tohgi and colleagues. Much of this work has used the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS), which classifies patients according to disability and ability to walk and perform activities of daily life, from 0-6 points.<sup>42</sup> A score of 0 indicates perfect health and absence of symptoms. Scores of 1-5 correlate with increasing disability, meaning an ability to carry out dependent and independent activities of daily living, and walk without assistance. A score of 6 is given to patients who have died. <sup>42</sup> Among stroke patients, categorization is often dichotomized, with a score of 0-2 indicative of relatively "good outcome", while scores of 3-5 are used to indicate "poor outcome."<sup>105</sup>

Ng et al. (2015) reviewed 79 cases of patients with hemorrhagic or ischemic cerebellar stroke, and calculated mRS scores at 3 and 6 months. Analysis of prognostic factors found better outcomes with smaller, non-hemorrhagic strokes.<sup>33</sup> Calic et al. (2015) echoed findings on the differential prognostic implications of small (<2 cm<sup>3</sup>) versus large (  $\geq 2$  cm<sup>3</sup>) cerebellar infarctions, with better outcomes (mRS = 0-2) tied to smaller lesions (OR 3.97, 95% CI 1.41–11.15; p = 0.01).<sup>36</sup> Similar results were seen by Juttler et al. (2009) in a study of long-term outcomes of 56 patients treated surgically for space-occupying cerebellar infarction up to 8 years from stroke;<sup>28</sup> Pfefferkorn et al. (2009) in observing outcomes after suboccipital decompressive craniectomy for cerebellar infarction up to 11 years post-stroke;<sup>31</sup> and, Jauss et al. (1999) in analyzing 3-month outcomes after massive cerebellar infarction.

Many interrelated prognostic factors have been suggested to correlate with poor functional outcomes in patients with cerebellar stroke. These include hemorrhage versus ischemia; vascular territory; edema; brain stem involvement; herniation; and, hydrocephalus.

#### 2.1.4 The challenge of rehabilitation in chronic stroke

Persistent functional impairments after an acute recovery period aligns with reports of patients with cerebral stroke. Plateaus in recovery after the acute period result in chronic cerebellar impairments, often in gait and functionality. Current research on long-term outcomes tends to focus on lower limb function and gait. Head-to-head comparison of outcomes amongst studies of long-term ataxia and functional impairment lacks standardization, making comparisons limited.

A large scale, prospective evaluation of recovery of walking ability in stroke patients was conducted by Jørgensen and colleagues (1995), with 804 patients with acute stroke undergoing rehabilitation. Jørgensen's team used the Bobath concept (a widely-utilized physiotherapy approach for patients with motor dysfunction in hemiplegic stroke)<sup>106</sup> and the Barthel Index (BI) (a scale delineating independence, assistance-needed, and non-ambulatory states). Of the non-ambulatory patients on admission, 80% reached best walking function within 6 weeks, and 95% reached it within 11 weeks. For patients needing assistance, similar trends were seen, with 80% reaching best function within 3 weeks, and 95% within 5 weeks. Of all patients admitted with impaired ambulation (non-ambulatory or assistance-needed), 33% improved, 33% failed to improve, 1% deteriorated, and 33% died.<sup>38</sup>

A prospective 6-month study of functional recovery in acute stroke patients was implemented by Lee et al. (2015), using regular interventions and re-assessments by physical, occupational, and speech therapists. Outcomes included the Fugl-Meyer Assessment of

sensorimotor function, Functional Ambulation Category (FAC) of walking independence, Trunk Impairment Scale (TIS), Modified Barthel Index (MBI), and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE). Improvement in all outcomes occurred between study initiation and 6-month follow-up, with significant interactions between time points and recovery measures (p < 0.001). Findings did reflect a plateau in the Fugl-Meyer Assessment, with little improvement between 3 and 6 months ( $p \ge 0.05$ ). Interestingly, FAC and MBI scores (reflecting gait and functional ability) documented improvements up to 6 months. Of note, patients in the study were fewer (n = 20 at 6-month follow up) and younger (mean age = 53.3 years) than those of many previously mentioned studies.

A systematic review by Pollock et al. (2014) attempted to delineate between physical rehabilitation approaches in recovery of function and mobility post-stroke. Outcomes such as independence in activities of daily living (ADLs), motor function, balance, gait velocity, and length of stay were assessed. After analysis of nearly 100 studies, pooled results revealed no significant differences between approaches in improving independence in ADLs (p = 0.71) or motor function (p = 0.41). These findings illustrate an association between chronic, persistent post-stroke effects on motor (p = 0.05) and functional (p = 0.003) recovery, consistent with other findings on stroke outcomes,<sup>46</sup> irrespective of rehabilitation technique.

#### 2.1.5 Music therapy in stroke rehabilitation

Music-based therapies are a promising new approach to stroke rehabilitation, in both the acute and chronic setting. The lack of effective PT and OT for improving chronic ataxia and functional dependence in post-stroke patients has inspired research in alternative treatments like music therapy. Investigations regarding the most effective techniques have identified different forms of music therapy such as music-supported therapy (MST); patterned sensory enhancement (PSE); and, therapeutic instrument playing (TIMP) for recovery of upper extremity function.<sup>107</sup> Musical intonation therapy (MIT) and musical neglect training (MNT) have been utilized for recovery of speech and language deficits, as well as hemispatial neglect.<sup>108</sup> Rhythmic auditory stimulation (RAS) using metronome beats or music tailored to walking cadence has shown benefits for recovery of functional gait.

Due to the technique's novelty, evidence for RAS in chronic stroke is limited, and existing work has been largely confined to cerebral stroke. Outcomes have included the Timed Get Up and Go test, Berg Balance Scale, and Fugl-Meyer Assessment. Findings from these studies are limited, but specific areas of improvement have been noted. Auditorymotor coupling and entrainment, or the synchronization of rhythmic auditory stimuli with physical motor behaviors, appears to dominate current theoretic models. Rhythmic beats from external auditory sources promote gait synchronization. Temporal differences between movements and cues provide immediate sensory feedback on gait regularity and timing, allowing feed-forward adjustment and more regular, synchronous movements over time.<sup>58,109</sup>

It is unclear whether these proposed mechanisms apply to patients with cerebellar stroke, with the potential to promote similar improvements in chronic motor impairments. A small body of research suggests that patients with cerebellar stroke are likely to benefit from music therapy as seen after cerebral stroke. A review of the neurobiological basis of rhythmic motor entrainment published by Molinari and colleagues (2003) discussed various cerebellar pathologies including stroke and cerebellar atrophy, and their influences on rhythmic and motor capabilities in patients. When asked to detect changes in frequency of a given auditory stimulus, patients with focal lesions (e.g. stroke patients) performed equally to healthy controls, while patients with degenerative cerebellar pathologies were unable to

detect the same changes. Similarly, patients with cerebellar stroke showed a capacity to tap in synchrony with an auditory rhythm, suggesting preserved ability to entrain external stimuli.<sup>110</sup>

A study by Kobinata et al. (2016) explored immediate effects of RAS on gait patterns in 20 stoke patients, as pertained to the site of lesion (cerebellum, pons, medulla, thalamus, putamen, and corona radiata). Following one 20-minute session of RAS, changes in gait parameters were assessed and compared against pre-RAS values. Results revealed significant increases (p < 0.05) in velocity and stride length in patients with lesions of the cerebellum, pons, medulla, and thalamus. In patients with lesions of the putamen and corona radiata, no significant improvements were seen.<sup>64</sup> While results of the study suggest potential benefit for this therapy in patients with cerebellar stroke, all participants were fewer than 94 days from stroke onset. Additional study limitations included a lack of a control group for comparison.

A single case study published by Wright et al. (2016) explored the effects of rhythmic auditory cueing in a patient with chronic cerebellar stroke and associated gait variability. The patient, an 81-year old female at 12 months post-PICA infarction, had an ICARS score of 11; abnormal gait; walking fatigue; and, recurrent falls. Cues were given over three gait trials. Data was obtained on gait variation (measured as coefficient of variation, CoV) and joint kinematics (sagittal hip, knee, and ankle angles). Gait improvements were observed, with reduced variability in step time, stance time, and double support time. Decreased variability of joint motion patterns was observed, especially during the stance phase of the gait cycle for hip motion, and swing phase for the knee.<sup>73</sup> Generalization of these findings is not feasible with an n = 1. The findings also reflected immediate, but not long-term, therapeutic effects.

Due to a paucity of research on music therapy, it remains unclear whether functional gains are 1) feasible in the chronic phase in this population; and, 2) subject to improvement with use of RAS among patients with cerebellar stroke. Yet, as cerebellar pathways are vital

to motor learning and integrating sensorimotor patterns affecting functional dependence, interventions that may reestablish these pathways, such as RAS, warrant further exploration.

#### 2.1.6 Music therapy in other movement disorders

While investigations are needed to evaluate the benefits of RAS in chronic stroke patients and to study the effects on gait beyond the immediate time frame, observations of RAS in patients with other motor disorders have been promising, and suggest that there may be a beneficial application to patients with chronic cerebellar stroke.

#### Parkinson's Disease

Literature on the use of RAS in Parkinson's disease (PD) is extensive. In PD, the basal ganglia contain key structures that primarily affect sensory and motor learning.<sup>50,111</sup> Like the cerebellum, the basal ganglia are believed to participate in rhythmic motor entrainment and timing through circuits interconnected with the cerebellum and cortical areas.<sup>110</sup> Use of RAS in patients with PD has been associated with improvements in gait parameters similar to those evaluated in patients with chronic deficits relating to stroke.<sup>112,113</sup>

An early study by Thaut et al. (1996) evaluated RAS in gait training for PD patients with gait deficits involving dysfunctions in velocity, stride length, and cadence. Patients were randomized to three conditions: an experimental group undergoing gait training with RAS; a self-paced group undergoing gait training without RAS; and, a control (no-training) group. After a three-week intervention, patients undergoing RAS training exhibited significant improvements in velocity on flat (p = 0.007) and inclined (p = 0.009) surfaces; cadence (p = 0.01); and, stride length (p = 0.009). Differences in velocity and cadence were significantly improved compared to the self-paced group (flat: p = 0.0307; incline: p = 0.0347; cadence: p = 0.0340), and no-training group (flat: p = 0.0001; incline p = .0052).<sup>74</sup>
Work by Hausdorff et al. (2007) assessed gait changes in patients with PD compared to healthy controls, observing changes in gait symmetry and variability using RAS cadences at 100% (baseline) and 110% speeds. Immediate and 15-minute delayed effects induced by RAS were evaluated. At 100% speed, i.e. the pace at which patients comfortably ambulated prior to training, RAS produced significant increases in gait speed, stride length, and swing time, but did not facilitate changes in stride time or swing time variability. In contrast, RAS set at 110% produced significant improvements in stride length and swing time relative to controls (p = 0.05, p = 0.02), as well as differences in variability outcomes, compared to no-RAS (p = 0.004, p = 0.03). An assessment of carry-over of effects revealed immediate and 15-minute delay, sustained improvements.<sup>114</sup> Similar findings have been echoed by multiple research studies, continuing support for the benefit of RAS among patients with PD.<sup>70,115</sup>

Given the similarities of motor deficits and the localized entrainment and timing centers in patients with PD and cerebellar stroke, it is reasonable to consider potential parallel benefits in patients with chronic cerebellar stroke. Recruitment of both cerebral and cerebellar networks is likely required for recovery of motor function in both conditions.<sup>50</sup> <u>Multiple Sclerosis</u>

Patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) are also hypothesized to benefit from RAS. Similar to PD and stroke, gait pathology in MS is linked to motor abnormalities like tremor, spasticity, ataxia, and loss of balance, resulting in slow, asymmetrical, fall-prone gait. In addition to proposed mechanisms underlying cerebellar ataxia, disruptions in sensation and cognition are believed to contribute to proprioceptive impairments in patients with MS.<sup>116,117</sup>

In a three-week trial utilizing metronome-based RAS in MS patients with moderate gait disability, Shahraki et al. (2017) observed changes in step and stride length, cadence, gait speed, and double support time. Like other studies on RAS in gait impairment, researchers

implemented a protocol including cadences at both 100% and 110%. Subjects in the RAS group demonstrated significant improvements in stride length, stride time, cadence, and gait speed (p < 0.05) compared to the non-intervention group. Interestingly, groups did not differ in pre- and post-test double support time (p > 0.05), included as a measure of balance and fatigue.<sup>75</sup> Improvements seen in MS patients undergoing RAS training were speculated to reflect improved coordination and gait stability. Notably, the study did not include patients at the most severe end of MS-related gait dysfunction,<sup>118</sup> and further work is needed to determine if the observed benefits of RAS in this study might extend to all MS patients.

Therapy with RAS also appears to facilitate motor gains in patients with cerebellarpredominant MS. A pilot study by Baram and Miller (2007) evaluated walking speed and stride length in MS patients with gait disturbances and disease-induced cerebellar ataxia, compared to healthy controls. Outcomes were assessed during active listening, termed "online" condition; and, then without RAS approximately 10 minutes later, termed "off-line." Analysis of gait parameters following the study revealed improvements in speed and stride length for patients with MS, during on-line and off-line conditions. As expected, the healthy controls did not show improvement, likely due to unimpaired baseline status, but actually showed a decrease in gait velocity. This decrease was suspected to be related to the burdening effect of wearing the audio-delivery device. Though promising, results of this study were not evaluated for significance, and sample size was small at 14 patients, making it difficult to draw definitive conclusions on the utility of RAS in this population.

Hypotheses regarding the mechanisms by which RAS facilitates gait improvement in patients with MS focus largely upon the reticulospinal tract, which influences muscle action and tone.<sup>119</sup> Auditory cues are believed to facilitate excitability of spinal motor neurons and activation of motor brain areas, enhancing muscle coordination and response. Like other

theories on the use of RAS in motor disorders, however, support for RAS in MS also credits RAS with entrainment of motor rhythms, provision of external cues to guide attention and automatic control, and motivational effects.

#### Cerebral Palsy

RAS has been used as an approach to rehabilitation for patients with cerebral palsy (CP), a developmental disorder associated with neuromuscular dysfunction. Like other motor disorders, movements in patients with CP can be characterized by postural instability, muscle contractures, dyskinesia, dystonia, ataxia, and joint subluxation. Like stroke, manifestations of CP may be hemiplegic or spastic.<sup>120</sup> Unlike other disorders where RAS has been evaluated, CP is associated with perinatal or early pediatric brain injury. Most patients with CP have no experience of ever having normal gait. Nonetheless, RAS appears effective in enhancing functional motor patterns in patients with CP, even above those benefits induced by standard rehabilitation techniques.

Work by Kim et al. (2011) evaluated RAS in patients with spastic CP, compared to healthy controls. Gait trials with and without RAS were implemented during a single-day intervention period, with outcomes addressing changes in temporospatial and kinematic parameters. Use of RAS ameliorated proximal joint aberrations in CP patients, compared to baseline recordings: pelvic anterior tilt and abnormal hip flexion in were significantly attenuated during RAS gait trials (p = 0.008, and p < 0.05 respectively). When subdivided by severity of motor impairment, patients with more severe deficits showed significant gains in symmetry of step length when walking with RAS (p = 0.030).<sup>79</sup> Despite such promising findings, no significant differences were observed with RAS regarding gait velocity, cadence, step length, step time, single limb stance, double limb stance, or swing phase. Study limitations included a small sample size (n = 14) and a lack of follow-up gait assessments.

Subsequent work has shown benefits for RAS in addressing these same outcomes. In 2012, Kim et al. explored RAS versus Bobath/neurodevelopmental (NDT) therapy in patients with spastic CP, over three weeks. Subjects training with RAS had improvements in proximal joint movement, namely pelvic tilt (p = 0.006) and hip flexion (p < 0.05). They showed significant gains in temporal gait parameters, such as cadence, velocity, stride length, and step length, ( $p \le 0.001$ ); and decreases in stride time and step time (p = 0.001). Patients treated with NDT failed to achieve similar results, and actually had decreased performance in many of these parameters.<sup>76</sup> While NDT was suggested to enhance postural stability in patients with CP, RAS appeared to be superior in enabling functional gait. While this study enrolled more subjects, it remains on the magnitude of a pilot study (n = 28), and had a brief follow-up period, which limits generalization to long-term benefits.

Shin and colleagues (2015) conducted a head-to-head comparison on outcomes of RAS over four weeks in patients with hemiplegia due to stroke or CP. Temporospatial parameters (cadence, velocity, step length, stride length, etc.) of the hemiplegic side failed to improve, while asymmetry during swing and stance phases showed significant improvement (p = 0.006) with RAS. Only stroke patients experienced significant benefit in kinematic movements such as hip adduction (p = 0.039), and distal joint mobility (p < 0.05).<sup>80</sup> Limitations to this study included a lack of a control group and a small sample size of n = 7 CP patients, and n = 11 stroke patients. As such, these results do not indicate if RAS is an effective intervention in either study population. And, there can only be speculation on the mechanism or localization of pathways relating to hemispheric or spastic outcomes of injury. Huntington's Disease

Exploration of RAS in numerous motor pathologies has generated interest in implementing RAS in patients with Huntington's disease (HD). Despite being a purely

hereditary condition, some neurodegenerative features of HD share similarities with other neurodegenerative conditions such as PD.

Thaut et al. (1999) explored the use of RAS in HD patients, based on the theory that slowed movements in HD are tied to basal ganglia dysfunction, and may be ameliorated with RAS, similarly to patients with PD. Using metronome and music-based cues, researchers implemented gait trials at patients' preferred pace, and with cues set at 10% below, and 10, 15, or 20% above baseline speed. Except for the most disabled patients, most patients were able to increase velocity during metronome-cued trials (p < 0.05). Interestingly, music-based cueing failed to elicit the same effect. When short-term effects of RAS were evaluated in a follow-up, un-cued gait trial, patients showed significant retention of gait improvement (p < 0.05) after RAS, and greater carry-over in comparison to training without RAS.<sup>77</sup> Despite ability to modulate gait, however, HD patients were unable to synchronize with rhythmic cues, and those with more severe HD experienced greater deviations from synchrony.

Similar findings were reported by Bilney et al. (2005) and Delval et al. (2008). The former analyzed gait during self-paced and metronome-paced gait trials in 30 HD patients compared to controls. Results showed significant perturbations of variability in timing of footstep cadence for HD patients; and, inability to synchronize with cadences, compared to controls (p < 0.001, p < 0.01).<sup>81</sup> Delval et al. investigated the effects of a metronome beat set at 120% of baseline speed on gait in HD patients, also revealing an inability to synchronize with given cadences. HD patients failed to exhibit increases in gait speed and cadence, in comparison to healthy controls (p < 0.05).<sup>121</sup>

Despite an ability to modulate velocity with rhythmic cues, the inability of HD patients to synchronize timing of gait with given cues suggests that patients may be unable to perceive and adjust to regular time intervals. Failure to synchronize with the metronome as a

means to augment or replace deficient internal cueing, may indicate involvement (and derangement) of neural pathways separate from those implicated in other disorders.

#### 2.2 Review of relevant methods

#### 2.2.1 Study design

The proposed study is a multi-center, parallel, randomized, controlled trial to compare improvement of ataxia and functional status in chronic cerebellar stroke across patients receiving RAS versus standard of care (PT/OT) over the course of 6 months, beginning at least 3 months after stroke onset.

Based on evidence suggesting poorer functional outcomes linked with hemorrhagictype cerebellar stroke,<sup>17,18,33</sup> randomization into experimental and control groups will be stratified by stroke type (ischemic versus hemorrhagic). Randomization will be centrally accomplished using a computerized random selector program implemented by a computer specialist external to the study. Each patient will be assigned a unique study number as well as a computer-generated randomized treatment plan, which will be distributed by sealed envelopes to study personnel at each treatment facility regarding each enrolled subject.

A multi-center design will be implemented to ensure an appropriate number of participants and increase generalizability of study results. Accounting for possible drop-out, predicted at 0-13%,<sup>83,122</sup> target enrollment will be 840 patients. This allows for a conservative 15% drop-out rate. A minimum sample size of n = 730 patients was determined for this study based on calculations for a minimal clinically important difference (MCID) of 2%, power of 90%, and alpha of 0.01 (2-tailed). Participants will be consecutively recruited from participating stroke centers and stroke rehabilitation centers, primary care providers, neurologists, and stroke support groups, over 12 months until sample size is achieved.

Study duration includes a recruitment period of 12 months. Treatment will be administered on an outpatient basis over a 6-month intervention period, beginning at a minimum of 90 days after stroke onset.

#### 2.2.2 Patient Selection

Eligible participants are  $\geq 18$  years of age with history of ischemic or hemorrhagic cerebellar stroke, verified by CT or MRI, with persisting associated functional impairment and ataxia as indicated by an mRS score of 3-5 and SARA score of 5.5 or greater, respectively.<sup>123</sup> Time from stroke must be  $\geq 90$  days, consistent with data indicating a plateau in motor recovery at this time in patients treated with standard of care.<sup>37-40</sup> Patients must be able to hear and/or respond to verbal stimuli. Participants must possess an appropriate level of alertness defined by a mini-mental state examination (MMSE) score greater than 24.<sup>87,124</sup>

Patients excluded from this study include those not able to meet inclusion criteria; those with prior neurological or communication disorders, hearing disorders, or severe dementia, causing an inability to meet intervention demands in experimental or standard of care conditions.<sup>61</sup> Also excluded are those with visual, vestibular, or orthopedic injuries influencing balance and gait.<sup>21</sup> Patients with prior hemispheric stroke are excluded to avoid possible confounding of results; and, patients with a pre-stroke mRS score  $\geq$  3 are excluded, as they are theoretically unable to achieve favorable post-training outcomes.<sup>105</sup>

#### 2.2.3 Clinical management

Music therapy is safe and is not associated with any risks other than routine risks relating to PT and OT. There is no need for additional monitoring outside of pre-existing healthcare providers. Like other rehabilitative approaches, RAS involves motor training and exercises, which may increase risk of falls in some patients. All training sessions will be attended by certified physiotherapists in the case that gait impairments pose risk for falls.

2.2.4 Experimental Condition

# Training protocols

The experimental intervention consists of gait training with RAS. Training with RAS will be conducted in 30-minute sessions, consistent with studies on RAS in stroke and other movement disorders.<sup>58,75,76,125,126</sup> Sessions will take place at designated rehabilitation centers experienced in management of stroke patients. The first and last 5 minutes of each session will be devoted to a warm up and cool down, respectively. A warm up period of 2-5 minutes is believed to increase adaptability to RAS and allow practice with the delivered beat.<sup>112,127,128</sup> After warm up, participants will perform five, 2-minute gait trials at the determined RAS cadence. Each trial will be followed by a 2-minute rest period (Appendix A).

Consistent with research on RAS in chronic stroke patients,<sup>59</sup> preferred walking cadence will be determined prior to the start of gait training, using the 10-meter walking test, which has been recognized for high test-retest reliability in patients with stroke (ICC = 0.87).<sup>129</sup> The test requires participants to walk comfortably along a 5-meter pathway, forward and then turning to return to the starting position. The procedure is repeated twice, with short rests between trials. Total time is recorded for the completion of each 10-meter trial, omitting the time taken to turn. The average of 10-meter trials will be used to generate individual baseline cadence, which will be adapted to RAS protocol and accompanied by music – either pop or classical – according to patient preference. The test will be repeated at 3 months and at the 6-month conclusion of the training protocol.

# Selection of tempo and tune

Studies exploring RAS-facilitated motor benefits in patients with cerebellar stroke have observed greater functional improvement with delivery of beat cadences slightly above baseline cadence. Delivery of RAS at 110-130% cadence has been associated with significant motor improvements, compared to RAS at 100% (baseline) tempo.<sup>114,128</sup> Thus, as in other studies using RAS in stroke patients, tempo will be sequentially increased over the course of the study.<sup>59,60</sup> Training sessions will be divided into monthly blocks, with incremental 5% increases in rhythm frequency implemented upon the beginning of each new block as tolerated (Appendix B). Evaluations of mRS and SARA scores will be conducted on the final day of each training block, in place of normally-scheduled gait training sessions.

Evidence that RAS may facilitate gait improvement beyond a 90-day acute period is supported by work by Oh et al. (2015). Researchers evaluated differences between RAS using music versus metronome to improve gait parameters in patients with chronic stroke. After four weeks of training, patients in the music group exhibited significant improvements in gait velocity and cadence, and deviations in body sway and functional gait assessments, compared to patients trained with metronome alone (p < 0.05).<sup>130</sup> Music therapy is believed to involve motivational effects that may influence training adherence and outcomes. Factors such as familiarity and "groove" – defined as the ability of music to elicit a desire to move – point to motivational elements of music, producing greater tempo matching (p = 0.008) and gait velocity (p = 0.009) in healthy patients, versus low-familiarity, low-groove music.<sup>131</sup> To incorporate these possible musical effects, RAS will be delivered through rhythmicallyaccentuated music, which will be used repeatedly to ensure familiarity over the course of the study. Repeated use of one musical template has the additional benefit of ameliorating distraction associated with musical novelty, which has been suggested in studies of RAS in patients with Huntington's disease to hinder acquisition of motor improvements.<sup>81</sup>

#### Duration of training

Studies on RAS in hemiparetic stroke suggests increased benefits with longer training periods. Thaut et al. (1997) implemented RAS for a 6-week period in stroke patients during the acute phase, compared with stroke patients undergoing training without RAS. At the study conclusion, patients trained with RAS exhibited significant increases in gait velocity (p < 0.05), stride length (p < 0.02), and symmetrical EMG activation of the gastrocnemius (p < 0.02).<sup>59</sup> An identical protocol was implemented by Thaut et al. in 2007, comparing RAS to neurodevelopmental (NDT)/Bobath therapy, that revealed similar gait improvements in patients with RAS over the Bobath approach. Percentage improvements in gait parameters achieved over 3 weeks were subjectively less than those seen during the 6-week study, suggesting added motor benefits with longer duration of RAS interventions.<sup>132</sup> Notably, both studies were conducted on hemiparetic stroke patients within the acute recovery phase. Additionally, the 6-week study was conducted in an inpatient hospital setting, with patients undergoing twice-daily training, five days per week, for a total of 60 sessions in 6 weeks. Interventions during the 3-week study were also conducted five days per week, but occurred just once per day, for a total of 15 sessions. This may account for the reduction in outcome.

This proposed study implements less frequent training sessions over a six-month period, to maintain patient adherence and allow time for functional gains and differences between treatment allocations to manifest. Most outpatient rehabilitation programs occur two-to-three times weekly. Gait training with RAS three times per week allows for a total of 72 sessions over 6 months. As there is some dispute regarding the length of the acute recovery period, with some studies suggesting that spontaneous gains may be possible up to 15 weeks post-stroke,<sup>133</sup> the 6-month duration of this study allows for plateau of any residual spontaneous gains between 3 and 6 months, while still preserving time for recognition of

effects. A 6-month intervention also allows for observation of effect trends, and evaluation if benefits facilitated by RAS are subject to plateau or deterioration over time.

#### 2.2.5 Control Condition

The control condition consists of physical and occupational therapies which constitute the current standard of care for stroke rehabilitation. Rehabilitation therapies will be administered for the same amount of time as the RAS condition and will follow identical protocols for warm up, cool down, active training, and rest periods. Physiotherapists will be instructed to apply similar instructions about gait parameters to practice, but without RAS.

# 2.2.6 Primary outcomes

Ataxic symptoms will be assessed using the Scale for Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) while functional impairment will be measured by the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS). The SARA is an 8 item, 40-point performance scale of motor aberrations, with a total score of 0 indicating no ataxia/normal, and a score of 40 indicating most severe ataxia. The SARA scale has been clinically validated as a reliable measure of ataxia after stoke. It is directly correlated with abnormal gait status (p < 0.01) and ability to perform daily activities (p < 0.01).<sup>123</sup> SARA scores under 5.5 represent minimal functional dependency, while those over 23 indicate total dependency.<sup>123</sup> The ICARS scale, despite being a similarly validated assessment tool, was not chosen to evaluate ataxia in this study, as it has been criticized for difficulty due to its length, redundancy, and clinical impracticality.<sup>134</sup> In addition, the SARA – but not ICARS – has been correlated with the mRS, which has been used routinely in chronic cerebellar stoke to describe functional status. Choi et al. (2018) evaluated the utility of the SARA in addressing clinical features of stroke patients at discharge, and found the SARA to be sufficient to predict mRS value (p < 0.001). Thus, while few studies have

utilized the SARA as a measure of ataxia in chronic cerebellar stroke, correlation between the SARA and the mRS allows for extrapolation of mRS findings in this population.

The mRS score best serves as a measure of the primary outcome. It has been used in research on chronic cerebellar stroke, and has been associated with fall risk and long-term morbidity in stroke. Work by Callaly et al. (2015) followed stroke patients for up to 2 years post-stroke, describing the rates of falls, fractures, and injuries, in a prospective population-based study. Researchers classified patients according to mRS at day 90, with mild-moderate disability categorized as mRS 2-3, and severe disability as mRS 4-5. Upon follow-up at 2 years, over 30% of surviving patients had fallen, and over 60% had fallen two or more times. Nearly a quarter of falls resulted in fracture. Analysis by mRS categorization revealed that, of the total cohort, patients with mRS of 2-3 (indicating impaired mobility) had the highest risk of falling within two years (OR 2.3, p = 0.003). In 2-year survivors, mRS of 4-5 (functional dependence) was associated with the highest independent risk for falling within two years (OR 2.7, P = 0.003).<sup>135</sup> The direct correlation between mRS score and both fall risk and mortality makes this rating an important prognostic factor.

Prior studies in patients with chronic stroke have demonstrated RAS-facilitated improvements in gait patterns that translate to significant improvements in mRS-defined functional independence. For the mRS, the minimal clinically important difference (MCID), defined as the smallest change in a treatment outcome that a patient or care provider would consider worthwhile, has been represented as a 1-point change in mRS score.<sup>136,137</sup> Within the context of post-stroke gait impairment, Tilson et al. (2010) observed that an increase in comfortable gait speed of at least 0.16 meters per second produced the best combination of sensitivity (73.9%, 95% CI = 65.9% - 80.6%) and specificity (57.0%, CI = 49.0% - 64.7%) for detecting mRS score improvement.<sup>138</sup> Fulk et al. (2018) drew similar conclusions while

implementing the six-minute walk test (6MWT) in patients at two months post-stroke. Based on mRS predictive value, increases in walking speed of at least 0.19 meters per second were correlated with improvement in mRS of 1 or more points. In patients with slower baseline walking speed (under 0.40 m/s), a 0.12 m/s change in speed was associated with mRS functional improvement.<sup>137</sup> Use of RAS in patients with chronic cerebral stroke has induced changes in gait speed at this level, in excess of those facilitated by conventional therapy.<sup>59,60,124</sup> It is worthwhile to note that a 1-point change in mRS does not mean that a patient will change categorization of functional status. For example, a patient with an mRS score of 5 prior to intervention, who is scored at 4 following intervention, can experience clinically significant improvement, but will remain in the "poor outcome" category.

#### 2.2.7 Secondary outcomes

Fall incidence over the study will be assessed as a secondary outcome. Monthly fall assessment will be conducted in questionnaire format at the end of each intervention block as part of the ataxia and functional status assessment. This will address the number of falls and related consequences. Definition of falls as used in prior studies is, "an event reported by the faller or a witness, resulting in a person inadvertently coming to rest on the ground or another lower level, with or without loss of consciousness or injury."<sup>139</sup>

## 2.2.8 Sample size rationale

A sample size of 730 participants will be required to detect a 2% difference in proportion of patients achieving clinically significant functional improvement between RAS and standard of care conditions. This sample size was calculated for a two-tailed test with an alpha of 0.01 and beta of 0.1 to achieve a confidence level of 99% and power of 90%. A total of 840 subjects will be enrolled to account for a 15% attrition rate (Appendix C).

A 2% effect size was determined using "Minimal Clinically Important Difference," (MCID) in stroke patients. In the context of stroke outcomes at 90 days, 11-15 patients, per 1000 treated, would need to benefit (by achieving freedom from disability, as defined by an mRS of 0-2) for an intervention to be of significant benefit to use in clinical practice. Converted to a natural base value, the MCID for the mRS in the context of acute/subacute stroke is 1.1-1.5% of patients.<sup>140</sup> Extrapolation of MCID to patients in the chronic phase allowed for the conservative determination of a 2% difference in effect for mRS outcomes.

An attrition rate of 15% is based on adherence observed in other long-term studies of interventions for chronic stroke patients. Studies utilizing RAS for gait recovery in patients with chronic cerebral stroke have been conducted with little patient drop out, with attrition rates of just 1-2%.127,130 Much existing work on RAS in chronic stroke has produced promising outcomes, which likely contributes to patient adherence. However, many of these studies are conducted over periods of 4 or 6 weeks. Patient adherence to rehabilitation after stroke is observed to fall with time, and improvement plateau is thought to contribute to this pattern.<sup>141</sup> In research by Wu et al. (2015), intensive rehabilitation therapy was compared to usual care in chronic stroke patients. At 12 weeks, motor benefits were seen in the intensive therapy group, and an attrition rate of approximately 6% was observed. At 36 weeks, motor gains had attenuated, and attrition had risen to nearly 13%.<sup>122</sup> As there is an inherent attrition rate related to a plateau effect in improvement when using conventional rehabilitation techniques, a predicted attrition of 15% was assumed to match observations from other studies. As a note, higher attrition rates of 28% have been recorded in studies of similar duration, but include patient death within reasons for loss to follow up.40 Patient death most often occurs during the acute or subacute phase after stroke.<sup>142</sup> As this study is designed to assess chronic stroke patients, lower drop-out rates were assumed for this population.

# 2.2.9 Estimated recruitment sites

Participants will be consecutively recruited from participating tertiary stroke rehabilitation centers, primary care providers, neurologists, and stroke support groups, over the course of 12 months until adequate sample size is met. Initial contact sites are those within a 25-mile radius of the central data collection and processing location at the Yale School of Medicine, for ease of communications and management. Recruitment will be assessed quarterly throughout the 12-month period, with expansion of radius to include additional sites as needed to obtain adequate sample size.

# 2.2.10 Confounding

Stratified randomization will be implemented to produce groups comparable at baseline, thus reducing the risk of confounding in the relationship between RAS and primary outcomes. An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) and multivariate regression analysis will be included as parts of secondary analyses, to evaluate for significant external influences and possible confounding. Unmodifiable characteristics that may influence results that will be subject to secondary analysis as described, include: gender, age, education level, musical experience, cerebellar lesion size and location, hemorrhagic versus ischemic stroke origin, concurrent hemiparesis, presence of complication (edema, herniation, hydrocephalus, brain stem involvement), surgical intervention, and inpatient length of stay.

# 2.3 Conclusion

The cerebellum performs a key role in neural circuits involved with sensory and motor function. Models of cerebellar organization postulate feed-forward and feedback mechanisms by which the cerebellum analyzes and facilitates coordinated movement, as well

as acquisition and automatization of motor tasks. Focal cerebellar lesions are associated with motor abnormalities, most classically ataxia, as well as deficits in procedural learning. These impairments appear to be non-resolving with time. A population of cerebellar stroke patients experience chronic motor deficits including ataxia, which is associated with impairments of gait and functionality, and increased risk of falls. Falls and mortality are associated with poor functional status as assessed by the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS), which clinically correlates with degree of ataxia as assessed by the SARA evaluation in chronic stroke.

Current standards of care for stroke rehabilitation including PT and OT have been unsuccessful in ameliorating chronic functional and motor impairments in patients following stroke; and, most functional gains are believed to occur within 90 days of stroke. Music therapy is a promising rehabilitative strategy, and evidence suggests that RAS may facilitate gait improvements in chronic hemiparesis in stroke patients, as well as patients with PD, MS, CP, and HD. There is a paucity of research evaluating the utilization of RAS in cerebellar stroke, and essentially none regarding RAS for cerebellar stroke in the chronic phase.

Observed gait improvements in subjects with vascular-related hemiparesis and motor deficits due to other neurological pathologies are encouraging for the use of RAS in patients with cerebellar stroke. The cerebellum is implicated in contributing to motor recovery in neurologic conditions including cerebral stroke and PD, MS, CP, and HD. But, direct injury to the cerebellum may negatively impact the benefits for therapy. Postulated roles of the cerebellum in sensorimotor learning have led some to doubt as to whether patients with chronic cerebellar stroke are able to acquire motor learning skills associated with RAS. The current study seeks to determine if there is a significant benefit to RAS therapy in facilitating motor recovery, as evaluated by SARA and mRS, in patients with chronic cerebellar stroke.

# 2.4 References

- 1. Diener HC, Dichgans J. Pathophysiology of cerebellar ataxia. *Mov Disord*. 1992;7(2):95-109.
- 2. Ashizawa T, Xia G. Ataxia. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)*. 2016;22(4 Movement Disorders):1208-1226.
- 3. Akbar U, Ashizawa T. Ataxia. Neurologic clinics. 2015;33(1):225-248.
- 4. Marsden J, Harris C. Cerebellar ataxia: pathophysiology and rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2011;25(3):195-216.
- 5. Mai N, Diener H-C, Dichgans J. On the role of feedback in maintaining constant grip force in patients with cerebellar disease. *Neuroscience Letters*. 1989;99(3):340-344.
- 6. Kornegay JN. Ataxia, dysmetria, tremor. Cerebellar diseases. *Probl Vet Med.* 1991;3(3):409-416.
- 7. Cury RG, Teixeira MJ, Galhardoni R, et al. Neuronavigation-guided transcranial magnetic stimulation of the dentate nucleus improves cerebellar ataxia: A sham-controlled, double-blind n = 1 study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord.* 2015;21(8):999-1001.
- 8. Farias da Guarda SN, Cohen LG, da Cunha Pinho M, et al. Interhemispheric asymmetry of corticomotor excitability after chronic cerebellar infarcts. *Cerebellum*. 2010;9(3):398-404.
- 9. Wolpert DM, Miall RC, Kawato M. Internal models in the cerebellum. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 1998;2(9):338-347.
- 10. Stein J. Cerebellar forward models to control movement. *J Physiol.* 2009;587(2):299-299.
- 11. Edlow JA, Newman-Toker DE, Savitz SI. Diagnosis and initial management of cerebellar infarction. *Lancet Neurol.* 2008;7(10):951-964.
- 12. Ioannides K, Tadi P, Naqvi IA. Cerebellar Infarct. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2019.
- 13. Bultmann U, Pierscianek D, Gizewski ER, et al. Functional recovery and rehabilitation of postural impairment and gait ataxia in patients with acute cerebellar stroke. *Gait Posture*. 2014;39(1):563-569.
- 14. Cano LM, Cardona P, Quesada H, Mora P, Rubio F. [Cerebellar infarction: prognosis and complications of vascular territories]. *Neurologia*. 2012;27(6):330-335.
- 15. Kelly PJ, Stein J, Shafqat S, et al. Functional Recovery After Rehabilitation for Cerebellar Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(2):530-534.
- 16. Masuda Y, Tei H, Shimizu S, Uchiyama S. Factors Associated with the Misdiagnosis of Cerebellar Infarction. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*. 2013;22(7):1125-1130.
- 17. Tohgi H, Takahashi S, Chiba K, Hirata Y. Cerebellar infarction. Clinical and neuroimaging analysis in 293 patients. The Tohoku Cerebellar Infarction Study Group. *Stroke*. 1993;24(11):1697-1701.
- 18. Teasell R, Foley N, Doherty T, Finestone H. Clinical characteristics of patients with brainstem strokes admitted to a rehabilitation unit. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(7):1013-1016.
- Belas Dos Santos M, Barros de Oliveira C, Dos Santos A, Garabello Pires C, Dylewski V, Arida RM. A Comparative Study of Conventional Physiotherapy versus Robot-Assisted Gait Training Associated to Physiotherapy in Individuals with Ataxia after Stroke. *Behav Neurol.* 2018;2018:2892065.

- 20. Stolze H, Klebe S, Petersen G, et al. Typical features of cerebellar ataxic gait. *Journal* of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry. 2002;73(3):310-312.
- Choi SW, Han N, Jung SH, Kim HD, Eom MJ, Bae HW. Evaluation of Ataxia in Mild Ischemic Stroke Patients Using the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA). *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2018;42(3):375-383.
- 22. Hausdorff JM, Rios DA, Edelberg HK. Gait variability and fall risk in communityliving older adults: a 1-year prospective study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2001;82(8):1050-1056.
- 23. Fonteyn EMR, Schmitz-Hübsch T, Verstappen CC, et al. Falls in Spinocerebellar Ataxias: Results of the EuroSCA Fall Study. *The Cerebellum.* 2010;9(2):232-239.
- 24. van de Warrenburg BPC, Steijns JAG, Munneke M, Kremer BPH, Bloem BR. Falls in degenerative cerebellar ataxias. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(4):497-500.
- 25. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2016 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2016;133(4):e38-360.
- 26. Roostaei T, Nazeri A, Sahraian MA, Minagar A. The human cerebellum: a review of physiologic neuroanatomy. *Neurol Clin.* 2014;32(4):859-869.
- 27. Macdonell RA, Kalnins RM, Donnan GA. Cerebellar infarction: natural history, prognosis, and pathology. *Stroke*. 1987;18(5):849-855.
- 28. Juttler E, Schweickert S, Ringleb PA, Huttner HB, Kohrmann M, Aschoff A. Longterm outcome after surgical treatment for space-occupying cerebellar infarction: experience in 56 patients. *Stroke*. 2009;40(9):3060-3066.
- 29. Chua KS, Kong KH. Functional outcome in brain stem stroke patients after rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1996;77(2):194-197.
- 30. Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, et al. Guidelines for Adult Stroke Rehabilitation and Recovery. *Stroke*. 2016;47(6):e98-e169.
- 31. Pfefferkorn T, Eppinger U, Linn J, et al. Long-term outcome after suboccipital decompressive craniectomy for malignant cerebellar infarction. *Stroke*. 2009;40(9):3045-3050.
- 32. Hornig CR, Rust DS, Busse O, Jauss M, Laun A. Space-occupying cerebellar infarction. Clinical course and prognosis. *Stroke*. 1994;25(2):372-374.
- 33. Ng ZX, Yang WR, Seet E, et al. Cerebellar strokes: a clinical outcome review of 79 cases. *Singapore Med J.* 2015;56(3):145-149.
- 34. Goh HT, Nadarajah M, Hamzah NB, Varadan P, Tan MP. Falls and Fear of Falling After Stroke: A Case-Control Study. *Pm r.* 2016;8(12):1173-1180.
- 35. Pouwels S, Lalmohamed A, Leufkens B, et al. Risk of Hip/Femur Fracture After Stroke. *Stroke*. 2009;40(10):3281-3285.
- Calic Z, Cappelen-Smith C, Cuganesan R, Anderson CS, Welgampola M, Cordato DJ. Frequency, Aetiology, and Outcome of Small Cerebellar Infarction. *Cerebrovascular diseases extra.* 2017;7(3):173-180.
- 37. Cramer SC. Repairing the human brain after stroke: I. Mechanisms of spontaneous recovery. *Annals of Neurology*. 2008;63(3):272-287.
- Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of walking function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1995;76(1):27-32.
- Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Horner RD, Landsman PB, Samsa GP, Matchar DB. Similar motor recovery of upper and lower extremities after stroke. *Stroke*. 1994;25(6):1181-1188.

- 40. Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Matchar D, Divine GW, Feussner J. Measurement of motor recovery after stroke. Outcome assessment and sample size requirements. *Stroke*. 1992;23(8):1084-1089.
- 41. Nickel A, Cheng B, Pinnschmidt H, et al. Clinical Outcome of Isolated Cerebellar Stroke—A Prospective Observational Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2018;9(580).
- 42. Broderick JP, Adeoye O, Elm J. Evolution of the Modified Rankin Scale and Its Use in Future Stroke Trials. *Stroke*. 2017;48(7):2007-2012.
- 43. Martin CL, Tan D, Bragge P, Bialocerkowski A. Effectiveness of physiotherapy for adults with cerebellar dysfunction: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2009;23(1):15-26.
- 44. Langhorne P, Bernhardt J, Kwakkel G. Stroke rehabilitation. *The Lancet*. 2011;377(9778):1693-1702.
- 45. Dobkin BH, Dorsch A. New evidence for therapies in stroke rehabilitation. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2013;15(6):331-331.
- 46. Pollock A, Baer G, Campbell P, et al. Physical rehabilitation approaches for the recovery of function and mobility following stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014(4):Cd001920.
- 47. Verheyden G, Nieuwboer A, De Wit L, et al. Time Course of Trunk, Arm, Leg, and Functional Recovery After Ischemic Stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2007;22(2):173-179.
- 48. Kinomoto K, Takayama Y, Watanabe T, et al. The mechanisms of recovery from cerebellar infarction: an fMRI study. *Neuroreport.* 2003;14(13):1671-1675.
- 49. Ilg W, Giese MA, Gizewski ER, Schoch B, Timmann D. The influence of focal cerebellar lesions on the control and adaptation of gait. *Brain.* 2008;131(Pt 11):2913-2927.
- 50. Devlin K, Alshaikh JT, Pantelyat A. Music Therapy and Music-Based Interventions for Movement Disorders. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2019;19(11):83.
- 51. Bradt J, Magee WL, Dileo C, Wheeler BL, McGilloway E. Music therapy for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2010(7):Cd006787.
- 52. Särkämö T, Tervaniemi M, Huotilainen M. Music perception and cognition: development, neural basis, and rehabilitative use of music. *WIREs Cognitive Science*. 2013;4(4):441-451.
- 53. Rodriguez-Fornells A, Rojo N, Amengual JL, Ripolles P, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. The involvement of audio-motor coupling in the music-supported therapy applied to stroke patients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2012;1252:282-293.
- Ripollés P, Rojo N, Grau-Sánchez J, et al. Music supported therapy promotes motor plasticity in individuals with chronic stroke. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*. 2016;10(4):1289-1307.
- 55. Wan CY, Schlaug G. Music making as a tool for promoting brain plasticity across the life span. *Neuroscientist.* 2010;16(5):566-577.
- 56. Rojo N, Amengual J, Juncadella M, et al. Music-supported therapy induces plasticity in the sensorimotor cortex in chronic stroke: a single-case study using multimodal imaging (fMRI-TMS). *Brain Inj.* 2011;25(7-8):787-793.
- 57. Amengual JL, Rojo N, Veciana de Las Heras M, et al. Sensorimotor plasticity after music-supported therapy in chronic stroke patients revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(4):e61883.
- 58. Ghai S, Ghai I. Effects of (music-based) rhythmic auditory cueing training on gait and posture post-stroke: A systematic review & dose-response meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9(1):2183.

- 59. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR. Rhythmic facilitation of gait training in hemiparetic stroke rehabilitation. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences.* 1997;151(2):207-212.
- 60. Mainka S, Wissel J, Völler H, Evers S. The Use of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation to Optimize Treadmill Training for Stroke Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2018;9:755-755.
- 61. Schauer M, Mauritz KH. Musical motor feedback (MMF) in walking hemiparetic stroke patients: randomized trials of gait improvement. *Clin Rehabil.* 2003;17(7):713-722.
- 62. Yoo GE, Kim SJ. Rhythmic Auditory Cueing in Motor Rehabilitation for Stroke Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Music Ther.* 2016;53(2):149-177.
- 63. Magee WL, Clark I, Tamplin J, Bradt J. Music interventions for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;1:Cd006787.
- 64. Kobinata N, Ueno M, Imanishi Y, Yoshikawa H. Immediate effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait in stroke patients in relation to the lesion site. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2016;28(9):2441-2444.
- 65. Mikolajewska E. Associations between results of post-stroke NDT-Bobath rehabilitation in gait parameters, ADL and hand functions. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2013;22(5):731-738.
- 66. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Hoemberg V. Neurobiological foundations of neurologic music therapy: rhythmic entrainment and the motor system. *Front Psychol.* 2015;5:1185-1185.
- 67. Schneider S, Schonle PW, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. Using musical instruments to improve motor skill recovery following a stroke. *J Neurol.* 2007;254(10):1339-1346.
- 68. Schoch B, Regel JP, Frings M, et al. Reliability and validity of ICARS in focal cerebellar lesions. *Movement Disorders*. 2007;22(15):2162-2169.
- 69. Wittwer JE, Webster KE, Hill K. Rhythmic auditory cueing to improve walking in patients with neurological conditions other than Parkinson's disease--what is the evidence? *Disabil Rehabil.* 2013;35(2):164-176.
- Lim I, van Wegen E, de Goede C, et al. Effects of external rhythmical cueing on gait in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2005;19(7):695-713.
- 71. Ashoori A, Eagleman DM, Jankovic J. Effects of Auditory Rhythm and Music on Gait Disturbances in Parkinson's Disease. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2015;6:234-234.
- 72. Wajda DA, Sosnoff JJ. Cognitive-motor interference in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of evidence, correlates, and consequences. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:720856-720856.
- 73. Wright RL, Bevins JW, Pratt D, Sackley CM, Wing AM. Metronome Cueing of Walking Reduces Gait Variability after a Cerebellar Stroke. *Front Neurol.* 2016;7:84.
- 74. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR, Miller RA, Rathbun J, Brault JM. Rhythmic auditory stimulation in gait training for Parkinson's disease patients. *Mov Disord*. 1996;11(2):193-200.
- 75. Shahraki M, Sohrabi M, Taheri Torbati HR, Nikkhah K, NaeimiKia M. Effect of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait kinematic parameters of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Med Life.* 2017;10(1):33-37.
- 76. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, Cho SR. Differential effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation and neurodevelopmental treatment/Bobath on gait patterns in adults with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2012;26(10):904-914.

- 77. Thaut MH, Miltner R, Lange HW, Hurt CP, Hoemberg V. Velocity modulation and rhythmic synchronization of gait in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 1999;14(5):808-819.
- 78. Plotnik M, Shema S, Dorfman M, et al. A motor learning-based intervention to ameliorate freezing of gait in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol.* 2014;261(7):1329-1339.
- 79. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, et al. Changes in gait patterns with rhythmic auditory stimulation in adults with cerebral palsy. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2011;29(3):233-241.
- 80. Shin YK, Chong HJ, Kim SJ, Cho SR. Effect of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Hemiplegic Gait Patterns. *Yonsei Med J.* 2015;56(6):1703-1713.
- 81. Bilney B, Morris ME, Churchyard A, Chiu E, Georgiou-Karistianis N. Evidence for a disorder of locomotor timing in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(1):51-57.
- 82. Ebersbach G, Sojer M, Valldeoriola F, et al. Comparative analysis of gait in Parkinson's disease, cerebellar ataxia and subcortical arteriosclerotic encephalopathy. *Brain.* 1999;122 (Pt 7):1349-1355.
- 83. Buckley E, Mazzà C, McNeill A. A systematic review of the gait characteristics associated with Cerebellar Ataxia. *Gait & Posture*. 2018;60:154-163.
- 84. Schoch B, Dimitrova A, Gizewski ER, Timmann D. Functional localization in the human cerebellum based on voxelwise statistical analysis: a study of 90 patients. *Neuroimage*. 2006;30(1):36-51.
- 85. Schmitz-Hübsch T, du Montcel ST, Baliko L, et al. Scale for the assessment and rating of ataxia. *Development of a new clinical scale*. 2006;66(11):1717-1720.
- 86. Choi S-M. Movement Disorders Following Cerebrovascular Lesions in Cerebellar Circuits. *J Mov Disord*. 2016;9(2):80-88.
- 87. Kim J, Lee S-K, Lee JD, Kim YW, Kim DI. Decreased Fractional Anisotropy of Middle Cerebellar Peduncle in Crossed Cerebellar Diaschisis: Diffusion-Tensor Imaging-Positron-Emission Tomography Correlation Study. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*. 2005;26(9):2224.
- 88. Fan F, Zhu C, Chen H, et al. Dynamic brain structural changes after left hemisphere subcortical stroke. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2013;34(8):1872-1881.
- 89. Bostan AC, Dum RP, Strick PL. Cerebellar networks with the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 2013;17(5):241-254.
- 90. Marr D. A theory of cerebellar cortex. J Physiol. 1969;202(2):437-470.
- 91. Albus JS. A theory of cerebellar function. *Mathematical Biosciences*. 1971;10(1):25-61.
- Honda T, Nagao S, Hashimoto Y, et al. Tandem internal models execute motor learning in the cerebellum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2018;115(28):7428-7433.
- 93. Jueptner M, Ottinger S, Fellows SJ, et al. The relevance of sensory input for the cerebellar control of movements. *Neuroimage*. 1997;5(1):41-48.
- 94. Mauk MD, Medina JF, Nores WL, Ohyama T. Cerebellar function: Coordination, learning or timing? *Current Biology*. 2000;10(14):R522-R525.
- 95. Diedrichsen J, Criscimagna-Hemminger SE, Shadmehr R. Dissociating timing and coordination as functions of the cerebellum. *J Neurosci.* 2007;27(23):6291-6301.
- 96. Manto M, Bower JM, Conforto AB, et al. Consensus paper: roles of the cerebellum in motor control--the diversity of ideas on cerebellar involvement in movement. *Cerebellum.* 2012;11(2):457-487.

- 97. Holmes G. THE SYMPTOMS OF ACUTE CEREBELLAR INJURIES DUE TO GUNSHOT INJURIES. *Brain.* 1917;40(4):461-535.
- 98. Hadjivassiliou M, Martindale J, Shanmugarajah P, et al. Causes of progressive cerebellar ataxia: prospective evaluation of 1500 patients. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry.* 2017;88(4):301-309.
- 99. Molinari M, Leggio MG, Solida A, et al. Cerebellum and procedural learning: evidence from focal cerebellar lesions. *Brain.* 1997;120 (Pt 10):1753-1762.
- 100. Doyon J, Gaudreau D, Laforce R, Jr., et al. Role of the striatum, cerebellum, and frontal lobes in the learning of a visuomotor sequence. *Brain Cogn.* 1997;34(2):218-245.
- 101. Lang CE, Bastian AJ. Cerebellar damage impairs automaticity of a recently practiced movement. *J Neurophysiol.* 2002;87(3):1336-1347.
- 102. Gómez-Beldarrain M, García-Moncó JC, Rubio B, Pascual-Leone A. Effect of focal cerebellar lesions on procedural learning in the serial reaction time task. *Experimental Brain Research*. 1998;120(1):25-30.
- Boyd LA, Winstein CJ. Cerebellar Stroke Impairs Temporal but not Spatial Accuracy during Implicit Motor Learning. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2004;18(3):134-143.
- 104. Bonni S, Ponzo V, Caltagirone C, Koch G. Cerebellar theta burst stimulation in stroke patients with ataxia. *Funct Neurol.* 2014;29(1):41-45.
- 105. Ganesh A, Luengo-Fernandez R, Wharton RM, Rothwell PM, Oxford Vascular S. Ordinal vs dichotomous analyses of modified Rankin Scale, 5-year outcome, and cost of stroke. *Neurology*. 2018;91(21):e1951-e1960.
- 106. Kollen BJ, Lennon S, Lyons B, et al. The effectiveness of the Bobath concept in stroke rehabilitation: what is the evidence? *Stroke*. 2009;40(4):e89-97.
- 107. Zhang Y, Cai J, Zhang Y, Ren T, Zhao M, Zhao Q. Improvement in Stroke-induced Motor Dysfunction by Music-supported Therapy: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *Scientific reports.* 2016;6:38521-38521.
- 108. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC. Neurologic Music Therapy in Stroke Rehabilitation. *Current Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Reports.* 2014;2(2):106-113.
- 109. Moumdjian L, Buhmann J, Willems I, Feys P, Leman M. Entrainment and Synchronization to Auditory Stimuli During Walking in Healthy and Neurological Populations: A Methodological Systematic Review. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2018;12:263-263.
- 110. Molinari M, Leggio MG, De Martin M, Cerasa A, Thaut M. Neurobiology of rhythmic motor entrainment. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2003;999:313-321.
- 111. Caligiore D, Pezzulo G, Baldassarre G, et al. Consensus Paper: Towards a Systems-Level View of Cerebellar Function: the Interplay Between Cerebellum, Basal Ganglia, and Cortex. *Cerebellum*. 2017;16(1):203-229.
- 112. McIntosh GC, Brown SH, Rice RR, Thaut MH. Rhythmic auditory-motor facilitation of gait patterns in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* 1997;62(1):22-26.
- 113. Ghai S, Ghai I, Schmitz G, Effenberg AO. Effect of rhythmic auditory cueing on parkinsonian gait: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):506.
- Hausdorff JM, Lowenthal J, Herman T, Gruendlinger L, Peretz C, Giladi N. Rhythmic auditory stimulation modulates gait variability in Parkinson's disease. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 2007;26(8):2369-2375.

- 115. Spaulding SJ, Barber B, Colby M, Cormack B, Mick T, Jenkins ME. Cueing and Gait Improvement Among People With Parkinson's Disease: A Meta-Analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2013;94(3):562-570.
- 116. Fling BW, Dutta GG, Schlueter H, Cameron MH, Horak FB. Associations between Proprioceptive Neural Pathway Structural Connectivity and Balance in People with Multiple Sclerosis. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2014;8:814-814.
- Ghai S, Ghai I. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Cueing in Gait Rehabilitation for Multiple Sclerosis: A Mini Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2018;9(386).
- 118. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*. 1983;33(11):1444-1452.
- 119. Brownstone RM, Chopek JW. Reticulospinal Systems for Tuning Motor Commands. *Front Neural Circuits.* 2018;12:30-30.
- 120. Ghai S, Ghai I, Effenberg AO. Effect of rhythmic auditory cueing on gait in cerebral palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2018;14:43-59.
- 121. Delval A, Krystkowiak P, Delliaux M, et al. Effect of external cueing on gait in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*. 2008;23(10):1446-1452.
- 122. Wu X, Guarino P, Lo AC, Peduzzi P, Wininger M. Long-term Effectiveness of Intensive Therapy in Chronic Stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* 2016;30(6):583-590.
- 123. Kim B-R, Lim J-H, Lee SA, et al. Usefulness of the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) in Ataxic Stroke Patients. *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2011;35(6):772-780.
- 124. Park IM, Oh D-W, Kim S-Y, Choi JD. Clinical Feasibility of Integrating Fast-Tempo Auditory Stimulation with Self-Adopted Walking Training for Improving Walking Function in Post-Stroke Patients: A Randomized, Controlled Pilot Trial. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2010;22:295-300.
- 125. Ford MP, Malone LA, Nyikos I, Yelisetty R, Bickel CS. Gait Training With Progressive External Auditory Cueing in Persons With Parkinson's Disease. *Archives* of *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2010;91(8):1255-1261.
- 126. Nascimento LR, de Oliveira CQ, Ada L, Michaelsen SM, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Walking training with cueing of cadence improves walking speed and stride length after stroke more than walking training alone: a systematic review. *J Physiother*. 2015;61(1):10-15.
- 127. Lee S, Lee K, Song C. Gait Training with Bilateral Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation in Stroke Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Brain Sci.* 2018;8(9):164.
- 128. Lee SH, Lee KJ, Song CH. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation (RAS) on Gait Ability and Symmetry after Stroke. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2012;24(4):311-314.
- 129. Green J, Forster A, Young J. Reliability of gait speed measured by a timed walking test in patients one year after stroke. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2002;16(3):306-314.
- 130. Oh Y-s, Kim H-s, Woo Y-k. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation Using Music on Gait With Stroke Patients. *Physical Therapy Korea*. 2015;22(3):81-90.
- 131. Leow LA, Rinchon C, Grahn J. Familiarity with music increases walking speed in rhythmic auditory cuing. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2015;1337:53-61.
- 132. Thaut MH, Leins AK, Rice RR, et al. Rhythmic auditory stimulation improves gait more than NDT/Bobath training in near-ambulatory patients early poststroke: a single-blind, randomized trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2007;21(5):455-459.
- 133. Hendricks HT, van Limbeek J, Geurts AC, Zwarts MJ. Motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review of the literature. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(11):1629-1637.

- 134. Schmahmann JD, Gardner R, MacMore J, Vangel MG. Development of a brief ataxia rating scale (BARS) based on a modified form of the ICARS. *Movement Disorders*. 2009;24(12):1820-1828.
- Callaly EL, Ni Chroinin D, Hannon N, et al. Falls and fractures 2 years after acute stroke: the North Dublin Population Stroke Study. *Age and Ageing*. 2015;44(5):882-886.
- 136. Wallace D, Duncan PW, Lai SM. Comparison of the responsiveness of the Barthel Index and the Motor Component of the Functional Independence Measure in stroke: The impact of using different methods for measuring responsiveness. *Journal* of Clinical Epidemiology. 2002;55(9):922-928.
- 137. Fulk GD, He Y. Minimal Clinically Important Difference of the 6-Minute Walk Test in People With Stroke. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy*. 2018;42(4):235-240.
- Tilson JK, Sullivan KJ, Cen SY, et al. Meaningful gait speed improvement during the first 60 days poststroke: minimal clinically important difference. *Phys Ther*. 2010;90(2):196-208.
- 139. Rubenstein LZ, Robbins AS, Josephson KR, Schulman BL, Osterweil D. The value of assessing falls in an elderly population. A randomized clinical trial. *Ann Intern Med.* 1990;113(4):308-316.
- 140. Cranston JS, Kaplan BD, Saver JL. Minimal Clinically Important Difference for Safe and Simple Novel Acute Ischemic Stroke Therapies. *Stroke*. 2017;48(11):2946-2951.
- 141. Yao M, Chen J, Jing J, Sheng H, Tan X, Jin J. Defining the rehabilitation adherence curve and adherence phases of stroke patients: an observational study. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2017;11:1435-1441.
- 142. Brønnum-Hansen H, Davidsen M, Thorvaldsen P. Long-Term Survival and Causes of Death After Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(9):2131-2136.
- 143. Robertson MC, Campbell AJ, Herbison P. Statistical Analysis of Efficacy in Falls Prevention Trials. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*. 2005;60(4):530-534.
- 144. Bagg S, Pombo Alicia P, Hopman W. Effect of Age on Functional Outcomes After Stroke Rehabilitation. *Stroke*. 2002;33(1):179-185.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

# 3.1 Study design

This is a multi-center, two-group parallel randomized control trial to compare improvement of ataxia and functional status in chronic cerebellar stroke across patients receiving RAS versus standard of care (PT/OT) over the course of 6 months.

# 3.2 Procedures and site selection

Prior to the start of recruitment, IRB approval will be obtained for each rehabilitation training site. Approval from the IRB and Human Investigation Committee at Yale University will also be obtained. Eligible patients will be consecutively recruited from participating tertiary stroke rehabilitation centers, primary care providers, neurologists, and stroke support groups, over the course of 12 months until a sample size of 840 is met.

A letter (Appendix D) will be sent to clinical service lines (e.g. neurology services, primary care providers, etc.) to outline the study and encourage referral of patients who may be eligible for participation. Participating offices and providers will be asked to assist with identification and enrollment of eligible patients for the study.

Recruitment sites will be visited by research assistants to facilitate the site enrollment process. Assistants will be responsible for conveying information regarding the protocol with physicians and staff of recruitment sites, in order to facilitate the proper identification and enrollment of eligible participants who meet inclusion and exclusion criteria.

The process of patient recruitment and enrollment is illustrated by CONSORT diagram (Appendix E). Patients found to be potential subjects for the study will be identified by providers at selected recruitment sites and provided general information on the proposed study. If the patient is interested in participating, the research assistant will be provided with the patient's contact information, and will set up a telephone call to conduct a structured

screening interview (Appendix F) to determine participation eligibility. Patients believed to be potentially eligible participants will then be scheduled for a formal evaluation of ataxia and functional status and determination of whether eligibility criteria is met.

Research assistants will assist in obtaining informed consent from subjects approved to participate. They will facilitate communication with central study coordinators during the recruitment phase and will continue to relay information between study sites and central coordination during the intervention period, including collection of monthly patient outcome assessments.

# 3.3 Study population and sampling

Eligible participants are  $\geq$  18 years of age with chronic ischemic or hemorrhagic cerebellar stroke defined as stroke onset  $\geq$  90 days prior, verified by CT or MRI, resulting in functional impairment and ataxia as indicated by a Modified Rankin scale score of 3-5, and a SARA score of 5.5 or greater.

Eligible subjects who meet inclusion criteria and no exclusion criteria (Appendix G) will be provided written consent forms (Appendix H). Consent forms include study description, duration, potential risks and benefits, and explain that participation in the study is voluntary and may be terminated at any time by the patient. Consent will be obtained in writing. If the patient is unable to write legibly due to motor impairments associated with stroke, verbal consent will be obtained with a verified witness present. Consenting patients will be enrolled consecutively as they are identified over 12 months, with intervention and assessments occurring over a 6-month period.

# 3.4 Subject confidentiality

An informed consent will be obtained, which will authorize researchers to access personal health information (PHI) of patients. This consent will detail intended uses and limitations to access PHI in accordance with HIPAA regulations. Only pertinent health information will be reviewed and collected. All patient information used during the course of the study is confidential, and will be accessible only to authorized research personnel who have completed a HIPAA privacy training course prior to handling PHI.

Each participant will be assigned a unique identification number upon enrollment in the study. All patient data, including extracted PHI and information gathered during the course of the study, will be labeled with this number. The key to this unique identification will be logged into a database to separate patient information from identity. A separate excel file will be created to contain unique patient identifiers and personally identifiable information. This file will be secured by password and network-protected firewall. All hardcopy and paper materials will be kept in a secure central location accessible only to approved study personnel. At the conclusion of the study, all related documents and any PHI extracted will be appropriately shredded and discarded in accordance with HIPAA standards.

3.5 Study variables and measures

#### Dependent variables

Primary outcomes: differences in patient ataxia scores as evaluated by the scale for the assessment and rating of ataxia (SARA), and level of functional independence as assessed by the Modified Rankin Scale (mRS). SARA scores run from 0-40, with 0 indicating no ataxic symptoms and 40 indicating the most severe ataxia (Appendix I). Assessments using the mRS of 0-6 will be dichotomized, with scores of 0-2 indicating "good" functional status

and scores of 3-5 indicating "poor" functional status. A score of 6 is given in the case of patient death (Appendix J). Initial assessment of SARA and mRS scores will be made during the recruitment phase, in order to identify eligible participants, with an additional preintervention assessment for enrolled patients conducted 1 week prior to the beginning of the intervention. Final assessments will be made on the final day of the intervention, following 6 months of training. Differences will be calculated as pre-training minus post-training scores. Additional evaluations of SARA and mRS status will be made at the conclusion of each training month, to evaluate for possible group-by-time interaction effects.

A secondary outcome of fall incidence will be included. Monthly fall assessment will be conducted in questionnaire format, during end-of-block patient visits for SARA and mRS assessment, to determine number of falls and related consequences (Appendix K).

# Independent variables

Independent variables: the treatment arm to which the patient is assigned. Patients will be randomly assigned to receive gait training with RAS (treatment group), or standard of care consisting of PT and OT (control group).

# Other descriptive measures

Baseline patient characteristics (Appendix L) known to be independently associated with the dependent variables, as well as any variables found to vary significantly between groups will be subject to secondary analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) and multivariate regression.

3.6 Methodology considerations

# Delivery of rhythmic auditory stimulation (RAS)

Gait training with RAS will be conducted by a set of board-certified music therapists engaged for this study, who have agreed to the delivery of therapy following specific protocols determined for this study (Appendix M). RAS will be delivered only to patients to whom they are assigned. Patients will undergo evaluation of SARA and mRS scores by independent, blinded assessors prior to starting RAS.

Patients will receive three, 30-minute sessions of RAS per week over the course of 6 months, for a total of 72 sessions. Sessions will begin within 1 week of pre-intervention SARA/mRS evaluation. Content of each RAS session will consist of five, 2-minute gait trials at a determined RAS cadence, interspersed with 2-minute rest periods between trials, and 5-minute warm up and cool down before and after training.

RAS sessions will be conducted at outpatient rehabilitation clinics and attended by physiotherapists to ensure patient safety. Patients will undergo monthly evaluations of SARA and mRS scores by independent, blinded assessors over the study course; the final session of each month will be dedicated to SARA and mRS evaluation.

### Delivery of standard of care (PT/OT) and Assessors

Standard of care will consist of physical therapy (PT) and occupational therapy (OT), provided by board-certified physical and occupational therapists. Patients will undergo evaluation of SARA and mRS scores by independent, blinded assessors prior to starting PT/OT.

Patients will attend three, 30-minute PT/OT sessions per week over the course of 6 months for a total of 72 sessions. Sessions will begin within 1 week of pre-intervention SARA and mRS evaluation. PT and OT will be delivered according to the level and needs of the patient, and designed to facilitate stroke rehabilitation with focus on gait improvement, with the exclusion of RAS.

Ratings done throughout the study will be conducted by independent assessors. These assessors will be recruited to participate in the study and will be required to hold active board certification in physiotherapy. Assessors will rotate amongst treatment sites, so that no two assessments on the same patient are completed by the same assessor. Patients will be asked not to disclose details of their treatment to outcome assessors. Statistical analyses will be conducted by an independent central study coordinator, blinded to treatment group interventions. Patients will undergo monthly assessments using the SARA and mRS rating scales. At month 0, 3, and 6, the 10-meter walking test will also be administered.

# 3.7 Randomization procedure and assignment of intervention

Randomization into experimental and control groups will be stratified by stroke type (ischemic or hemorrhagic) and will be centrally accomplished using a computerized randomization program implemented by a computer specialist external to the study. Patients will be randomly assigned a unique, computer-generated random subject number that will also indicate their intervention group. Patients and therapists cannot be blinded to the intervention assignments. Research assistants will facilitate coordination with the proper treatment site, once the patient has been assigned to his/her treatment allocation. At each site, administrative staff not involved in the treatment will help to coordinate scheduling of treatment in the outpatient setting. Staff will also work to schedule monthly SARA and mRS assessments with blinded assessors who have no role in patient therapy.

# 3.8 Blinding

Over 6 months, patients will be administered therapy by a single physical or musical therapist chosen from a pool of therapists selected for the study, all with comparable

experience in stroke rehabilitation. Outcomes will be assessed by independent assessors blinded to patient group, baseline and stroke characteristics, and previous assessment scores.

## 3.9 Adherence

Patients will receive communication via preferred method (text, phone call, email) from research assistants 3 days prior to each scheduled session as a reminder. Patient attendance will be recorded by scheduled therapists and research assistants. Date of session, duration, and clinical notes for each session will be recorded by therapists.

## 3.10 Monitoring of adverse events

Patient deaths and adverse events (e.g. falls) will be assessed monthly. Failure to attend scheduled sessions will result in a phone call inquiry as to the cause of absence. Repeated failures to attend scheduled sessions or cancellation of 50% or more of scheduled sessions will be considered a study drop-out and the subject will be unenrolled. Failure to attend monthly rating sessions with independent assessors will be rescheduled within one week of the missed date. Absence from more than 50% of the monthly rating sessions with independent assessors will be considered a drop-out and the subject will be unenrolled.

#### 3.11 Data collection

All data will be collected within 2 years of the study start date, including the 12month recruitment period and 6-month training time and assessments of last recruited subjects. Baseline patient characteristics, stroke characteristics, and relevant hospitalization and therapy dates will be collected and compiled. Patient assessment scores will be entered into data collections as they are made available, along with information on falls or adverse events. Clinical notes by music therapists and physiotherapists will also be entered into this database. Information will be transferred by an independent research associate not involved elsewhere in the study to transfer relevant data into a spreadsheet for statistical analysis.3.12 Sample size calculation

Sample size has been determined using an online calculator developed by Bespoke Statistical Services to determine a sample size sufficient to power a study at 90% with a confidence level of 99%. Based on research previously presented, we expect that between assessments at baseline and 6-months, patients undergoing standard PT and OT will not experience any absolute gains in ataxia (SARA) or functional independence (mRS) scores. Essentially, rating scores for patients in the control group are expected to remain not significantly improved; at baseline or worse. Based on an MCID of the mRS of approximately 1.1-1.5%, a conservative 2% difference in effect for patients undergoing RAS training is assumed. Using these values, we determine a total of 730 subjects must complete the primary study endpoint and be usable in analysis in order to detect an effect.

Accounting for completion rates reported in the literature for this population, we expect at least 85% of patients with ataxia and functional dependence to complete the study. Thus, recruiting is scaled up to a total of 840 with 420 patients per arm.

### 3.13 Analysis

Statistical analysis will be conducted using computer-based software. The level of statistical significance for all tests will be set to 0.01. Analyses will be performed using an intention-to-treat analysis. A repeated measures ANOVA will be used to evaluate differences in SARA scores between groups at pre- versus post-training and during monthly evaluations throughout the study period. Repeated Chi square analyses will be used to assess differences in mRS scores over this time. Incidence of falls over the course of 6 months will be

compared between groups using a negative binomial regression model.<sup>1</sup> These analyses will allow for evaluations of overall differences of effect between groups following completion of training interventions, and assessment of group-by-time interactions throughout the study.

Statistical analyses will be further stratified by patient age (under 50 years old, age 50-59, age 60-69, age 70-79, and age 80 or greater)<sup>2</sup> and time from stroke onset (3 months to 1 year, 1 to 2 years, and greater than 2 years).

Baseline characteristics independently associated with the dependent variables, as well as any variables determined to vary significantly between groups, will be subject to posthoc analysis upon study completion. An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) and multivariate regression analysis will be included as parts of secondary analyses, to evaluate for any significant external influences and possible confounding.

#### 3.14 Timeline

Duration of the study, including patient identification and enrollment, experimental interventions, and data analysis, is 24 months. Recruitment will occur over a 1-year period, with initiation of interventions occurring on a rolling basis as patients are enrolled. All interventions will conclude by 1.5 years, allowing for an approximate 6-month period of time dedicated to data analysis and interpretation (Appendix N).

# 3.16 Resources & Personnel

<u>Principle Investigators</u>: Kaitlin Fitzgerald, PA-S; Dr. Diana Richardson, MD; Responsible for oversight of all operations, ensuring appropriate clinical practice and ethical soundness. <u>Therapists</u>: board-certified physical and occupational therapists, and board-certified music therapists familiar with the implementation of RAS will undergo training on the intervention the protocols for standardization of treatment interventions. At the time of site enrollment, they will be familiarized with study protocol. All therapists will be selected on the basis of comparable experience in rehabilitation of stroke patients.

<u>Site Primary Investigators (PI)</u>: site investigators are responsible to enroll subjects and ensure adherence to the protocol. They are responsible for ensuring that all participating study personnel and therapists at their sites are familiar with the study protocol. Site PI will collect and convey study data for delivery and monitoring of interventions, as well as record appointment details including date of session, duration, and clinical notes.

<u>Research Assistants:</u> responsible for visiting recruitment sites and conveying information regarding the study to medical providers/staff to facilitate identification of eligible participants. These individuals will provide study-related documents to participating sites; serve as a point of contact for study personnel; provide regular appointment reminders to subjects; and, conduct phone call eligibility screening. Research assistants will relay information between study sites and central coordination during the study period, including collection of monthly patient assessments and notes. They will conduct inquiries regarding missed appointments and monitor for minimum compliance to maintain enrollment. <u>Independent Assessors</u>: responsible for evaluation of patient SARA and mRS scores when determining eligibility during enrollment, at baseline, monthly during the 6-month intervention, and at the study conclusion. Assessors are blinded to assigned intervention groups, baseline symptomology, stroke localization, and previous assessment scores.

Data Analyst: responsible for analysis of clinical data.

<u>HIPAA training</u>: to be provided by Yale University to all research personnel involved in the access and handling of personal health information (PHI).

<u>Facilities:</u> rehabilitation interventions will be conducted at enrolled outpatient rehabilitation clinics in the community.

# 3.2 References

- 1. Robertson MC, Campbell AJ, Herbison P. Statistical Analysis of Efficacy in Falls Prevention Trials. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*. 2005;60(4):530-534.
- 2. Bagg S, Pombo Alicia P, Hopman W. Effect of Age on Functional Outcomes After Stroke Rehabilitation. *Stroke*. 2002;33(1):179-185.
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS

# 4.1 Advantages

This study has several strengths. Music therapy and RAS are safe, and pose no additional risk to patient health over routine therapeutic interventions. RAS is inexpensive and can easily be incorporated into existing therapeutic practice at rehabilitation facilities. There is additional potential for this therapy to be conducted within the home, using self-training videos or telemedicine. The use of home-based media would further support utilizing electronic media to continue or reinforce therapeutic gains over longer periods of time. There is potential, therefore, for conducting long-term investigations regarding RAS techniques.

This study is designed to minimize variables between intervention groups. This is achieved by stratifying randomization by stroke type and by performing an intention-to-treat analysis to enhance external validity and minimize bias. While this approach is sometimes criticized for reduction in power, this study is powered at 90%, which allows for flexibility.

#### 4.2 Disadvantages

This study is limited by its use of convenience sampling, which is vulnerable to selection bias and sampling error. Another source of potential bias is that it is not feasible to conduct this study as a double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial. Subjects and therapists are aware that RAS is not the current standard of care and as such, may confer an implicit bias affecting participation. Conversely, there is potential for enhanced placebo effect from the therapy due to anticipated benefit, which would promote greater effort from subjects and therapists. The use of blinded assessors attempts to mitigate this potential source of bias. With regards to falls, patient selfreporting introduces potential for recall bias or selective reporting. In this study, it is suspected that this might be applicable equally between the two groups. Finally, due to the 2-year duration of this study, data on benefits from longer term intervention and/or retention cannot be

87

addressed within the scope of this study. There is, therefore, potential for additional investigations on long-term interventions.

APPENDICES

Ap	pendix	A: 5	Single	Session	RAS	Gait '	Training	Protocol
-		-	0		_			

Time (minutes)	Activity
5	Warm-up
2	RAS training
2	Break
2	RAS training
2	Break
2	RAS training
2	Break
2	RAS training
2	Break
2	RAS training
2	Break
5	Cool down
Total: 30 minutes	

# Appendix B: RAS Gait Training and Assessment Schedule

Pre test	Month 1	T*	Month 2	Т	Month 3	T	Month 4	Т	Month 5	Т	Month 6	Post Test
10MWT	RAS		RAS		RAS	10MWT	RAS	1	RAS 120%		RAS 125%	10 MWT
SARA	100%		105%		110%		115%					SARA
mRS												mRS

\*T = serial, end of month evaluations of mRS and SARA scores \*10MWT = 10-meter walking test

Appendix C: Sample Size Calculation

99	)%	0
90	%	0
0	)%	0
2	)%	0
730		6
	2	2 % 730

https://select-statistics.co.uk/calculators/sample-size-calculator-two-proportions/

Appendix D: Letter to Clinical Service Lines

To Whom It May Concern:

We are writing to inform you about an upcoming clinical trial which may be an exciting opportunity to provide new rehabilitative options to patients with chronic ataxia following cerebellar stroke. We would like to offer you the opportunity to refer your patients to participate in this trial, which explores the effect of rhythmic auditory stimulation (RAS) compared against standard of care (physical and occupational therapies) in stroke rehabilitation for patients with chronic ataxia and functional impairment.

For this study, we are recruiting 840 patients who experienced cerebellar stroke at least 3 months ago, and who have persisting ataxic symptoms influencing functional independence. Our inclusion and exclusion criteria is listed below:

Exclusion

## Inclusion

<ul> <li>Age ≥ 18 years</li> <li>History of CT or MRI-verified ischemic or hemorrhagic cerebellar stroke</li> <li>Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score 3-5</li> <li>Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) score ≥ 5.5</li> <li>Onset of stroke ≥ 3 months ago</li> <li>Able to hear/respond to auditory stimuli and verbal instruction</li> <li>Mini-mental state examination (MMSE) score ≥ 24</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Prior neurological or communication disorder</li> <li>Hearing disability or disorder precluding recognition of auditory stimuli</li> <li>Premorbid mRS ≥3</li> <li>Premorbid SARA ≥5.5</li> <li>Prior hemispheric or brainstem stroke</li> <li>Inability to meet demands of intervention</li> <li>Severe dementia or MMSE &lt; 24</li> <li>Visual, vestibular, orthopedic, or other impairment influencing balance and gait</li> </ul>
--	---

We have enclosed in this letter the patient consent form detailing study design, eligibility, and expectations for participation. We hope that you will take a few moments to review these materials and consider referring patients you believe may be eligible for this clinical study. If you, after having reviewed these materials, are interested in referring patients to this study, we will arrange an in-person visit to your place of work to discuss any further details or questions you may have.

Please ensure all information provided to you relating to this clinical trial is treated with strict confidentiality. Please feel free to contact me if you would like further information about the trial and the potential participation of your patients in the trial.

Thank you for your consideration.

Yours sincerely, Kaitlin Fitzgerald

Yale University School of Medicine 999-999-9999

# Appendix E: CONSORT Diagram of Participant Recruitment and Enrollment



# Appendix F: Structured Phone Call Screening Interview

Hello Mr./Mrs.\_\_\_\_,

We are calling you to discuss an upcoming clinical trial which may be an exciting opportunity to provide new rehabilitative options to patients with chronic ataxia following cerebellar stroke. We have been informed by \_\_\_\_\_ that you may be an eligible subject for participation in this trial and that, after receiving information on the study, you have expressed interest in participating.

Before we schedule an in-person assessment and evaluation for eligibility, we would like to discuss aspects relating to the study over the phone.

**1.** How old are you?

# a. Patient must be at least 18 years of age

2. How long ago was your stroke?

# a. Stroke onset must be at least 3 months prior

- 3. How would you describe your level of disability prior to experiencing stroke?
  - a. No or minimal disability
  - b. Some disability: I was able to walk unassisted (without assistive device/person), but I needed some help in looking after my own affairs and carrying out my previous activities
  - c. Moderate disability: I was unable to walk unassisted, and I needed help managing my daily bodily needs
  - d. Severe disability: I needed constant nursing care and attention, I was bedridden

# Patients with no or minimal disability prior to stroke are eligible for participation Patients with greater than no or minimal disability prior to stroke are ineligible for participation

- 4. How would you describe your level of disability presently?
  - a. No or minimal disability
  - b. Some disability: I am able to walk unassisted, but I need some help in looking after my own affairs and carrying out my previous activities
  - c. Moderate disability: I am unable to walk unassisted, and I need help managing my daily bodily needs
  - d. Severe disability: I need constant nursing care and attention, I am bedridden

# Patients with no or minimal disability are ineligible for participation. Patients with some or moderate disability are eligible for participation. Patients with severe disability may be eligible if able to fulfill therapeutic requirements

- 5. Exclusion criteria:
  - . Do you have any underlying neurological or communication disorders?
    - i. Patients with underlying neurological or communication disorders are ineligible for participation
  - b. Do you have a hearing disability that might interfere with listening to music?
    - i. Patients with a hearing disability that might interfere with listening to music are ineligible for participation
  - c. Have you experienced any other strokes? If yes, do you know which area of the brain was affected?

- i. Patients with prior cerebral or brainstem strokes are ineligible for participation
- d. Have you ever been diagnosed with dementia?
  - i. Patients with severe dementia are ineligible for participation
- e. Do you have any visual, vestibular, orthopedic, or other impairments that affect balance and ability to walk?
  - i. Patients with visual, vestibular, orthopedic, or other impairments that affect balance and ability to walk are ineligible for participation

## For patients who meet exclusion criteria:

Unfortunately, it appears that you do not fit the criteria we've outlined for the current study. We encourage you to check in regularly with your provider about upcoming opportunities for participation in other research studies, and wish you the best in your healthcare journey.

# For patients who do not meet exclusion criteria:

It appears that you may meet the criteria we've outlined for the current study. We would like to perform a more detailed evaluation in person, where we can provide further information about the study. Appendix G: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion	Exclusion
Age $\geq$ 18 years	Prior neurological or communication disorder
History of CT or MRI-verified ischemic or	Hearing disability or disorder precluding recognition
hemorrhagic cerebellar stroke	of auditory stimuli
Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) score 3-5	Premorbid mRS ≥3
Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia	Premorbid SARA ≥5.5
(SARA) score $\geq 5.5$	
Onset of stroke $\geq$ 90 days ago	Prior hemispheric or brainstem stroke
Able to hear/respond to auditory stimuli and verbal	Inability to meet demands of intervention
instruction	
Mini-mental state examination (MMSE) score $\geq 24$	Severe dementia or $MMSE < 24$
	Visual, vestibular, orthopedic, or other impairment
	influencing balance and gait

#### Appendix H: Informed Consent Forms

# COMPOUND AUTHORIZATION AND CONSENT FOR PARTICIPATION IN A RESEARCH STUDY

# YALE UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

<u>Study Title:</u> Efficacy of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Ataxia and Functional Dependence Post-Cerebellar Stroke

<u>Principal Investigator</u>: Kaitlin Fitzgerald, PA-SII; Diana Richardson, MD Phone Number: 999-999-9999 Funding: to be determined

# Invitation to Participate and Description of Project

You are invited to participate in a research study evaluating whether the use of rhythmic auditory stimulation (RAS) therapy will help improve motor difficulties in patients after cerebellar stroke. This is designed to treat both chronic difficulties when performing usual daily activities (known as function deficits) and unsteady irregular walking (known as gait ataxia). We will be comparing rhythmic auditory stimulation (RAS) therapy to standard rehabilitation techniques used during recovery after strokes. The objective of this study is to determine the effectiveness of RAS as a motor rehabilitation approach for patients with chronic cerebellar difficulties, and to facilitate further improvement of walking and performance of daily activities.

Little is known about how strokes change the function of the cerebellum, but it is believed that patients who suffer from stroke regain little functionality beyond the first three months poststroke. It is known that the use of standard rehabilitative techniques such as physical and occupational therapy help in recovery of some of the cerebellar function. There is a substantial body of work supporting newer therapy techniques such as RAS in patients with motor disorders including impairments seen following stroke. We believe that RAS may be of equal or greater benefit for helping to improve recovery of functional independence and gait in patients who have chronic cerebellar stroke symptoms.

This consent form will provide detailed information about the research study. A member of the research team will review the form with you and answer any questions that you may have about the study. They will discuss all parts of the research, its purpose, procedures, any risks, and possible benefits. Take as much time as you need before you make your decision. After learning about the study, if you wish to participate, you will be asked to sign this form.

#### **Description of procedures**

Individuals who choose to participate in this study will be randomly assigned to the intervention group receiving RAS, or to the standard of care group receiving more traditional physical and occupational therapy. Training sessions will take place at selected sites staffed by certified therapists (physical, occupational and music therapists). The time dedicated to the study is the same for participants in both treatment groups.

Each participant will participate in pre-determined therapy techniques based on their assigned intervention group. Therapy sessions will be conducted three times per week over 6 months, for a total of 72 sessions. Each session will take approximately 30 minutes. Pre- and post-training assessments of gait and functionality will be performed prior to the start of training, and on the final training day. Monthly evaluations will be conducted throughout the duration of the study.

This study involves frequent training visits to participate in rehabilitation. You will receive communication via preferred method (text, phone call, email) from research assistants 3 days prior to each scheduled session as a reminder.

#### Why is this study being offered to me?

You are being asked to participate in this study because you have a prior diagnosis of cerebellar stroke occurring at least 3 months ago, and have experienced associated persistent impairments in functional independence and gait. We are looking for 840 participants to be part of this research study.

#### Risks

There are no special or anticipated increased risks associated with RAS as a therapeutic modality. Like other rehabilitative techniques, therapy using RAS involves motor training and exercises, which may increase risk in falls in some patients. A certified physiotherapist will be present during all training sessions to prevent and to provide care in the event of a fall.

#### Benefits

Benefits of the study may include improvement in functional status and enhanced recovery of normal gait. Improvements in gait are associated with decreased risk of falling and fall-associated consequences, including death. Information collected from you during the study may help us to better understand the nature of cerebellar stroke, and may highlight new paths for treatment during the chronic phase of recovery, as this is a period of time well-recognized as one in which few functional improvements are gained with standard rehabilitation approaches.

#### Economic considerations

There is no cost to you or your health insurance provider for participation in this study. You will be compensated for costs of travel and parking associated with training visits.

#### Treatment alternatives

One alternative to this study is not to participate. You may also choose to pursue other rehabilitation techniques, which may or may not facilitate personal motor recovery.

#### Voluntary participation

Taking part in this study is your choice. You can choose to take part, or you can choose not to take part in this study. Should you decided to participate in this study, you can also change your mind at any time. Whatever choice you make, you will not lose access to your medical care or give up any legal rights or benefits.

#### Confidentiality

Throughout the course of this study, all information collected about you will be kept confidential, and only accessible by a number assigned to you upon enrollment. In accordance with HIPAA regulations, only relevant health information will be reviewed and collected from your records for the purpose of this study. All information used during the course of the study is confidential, and will be accessed only be individuals authorized by study and with completion of certified HIPAA privacy training course through Yale University.

To ensure security of participants' data, all digital information is to be stored on a secure computer server. All hard-copy and paper materials will be kept in a secure central location accessible only by approved study personnel. All identifying health information extracted as part of the study will be destroyed following conclusion of the study, rendering the data anonymous. It is possible that this anonymous data may be used in subsequent research or distributed to another investigator for future studies without additional informed consent. Any personal health information or identifiable information obtained in connection with this study will remain confidential except in the event that you wish to disclose it, or its release is required by state or federal law.

# What Information Will You Collect About Me in this Study?

The information we are asking to use and share is called "Protected Health Information." It is protected by a federal law called the Privacy Rule of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). In general, we cannot use or share your health information for research without your permission. If you want, we can give you more information about the Privacy Rule. If you have any questions about the Privacy Rule and your rights, you can speak to Yale Privacy Officer at 203-432-5919.

The specific information about you and your health that we will collect, use, and share includes:

- Research study records
- Medical/laboratory records of services provided in connection with this study
- Research records and medical records created during the study
- Records about phone calls, texts, or email communications made as part of this research
- Records about your study visits
- Information obtained during this research regarding
  - New or worsening motor function
    - o Falls and fall-associated consequences
    - o Relevant physical exam and test results
    - o Diagnosis and management of new health conditions

# How will you use and share my information?

We will use your information to conduct the study described in this consent form. We may share your information with:

- The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) agencies
- Representatives from Yale University, the Yale Human Research Protection Program and the Institutional Review Board (the committee that reviews, approves, and monitors research on human participants), who are responsible for ensuring research compliance. These individuals are required to keep all information confidential.
- Health care providers who provide services to you in connection with this study
- Laboratories and other individuals and organizations that analyze your health information in connection with this study, according to the study plan
- Co-Investigators and other investigators
- Study coordinators and members of the research team
- Data and safety monitoring boards and others authorized to monitor the conduct of the study

We will do our best to make sure your information stays private. But, if we share information with people who do not have to follow the Privacy Rule, your information will no longer be protected by the Privacy Rule. Let us know if you have questions about this. However, to better protect your health information, agreements are in place with these individuals and/or companies that require that they keep your information confidential.

# Why must I sign this document?

By signing this form, you will allow researchers to use and disclose your information described above for this research study. This is to ensure that the information related to this research is available to all parties who may need it for research purposes. You always have the right to review and copy your health information in your medical record.

#### What if I change my mind?

The authorization to use and disclose your health information collected during your participation in this study will never expire. However, you may withdraw or take away your permission at any time. You may withdraw your permission by telling the study staff or by writing to Kaitlin Fitzgerald at 999 Yale University, New Haven, CT 06520.

If you withdraw your permission, you will not be able to stay in this study but the care you get from your doctor outside this study will not change. No new health information identifying you will be gathered after the date you withdraw. Information that has already been collected may still be used and given to others until the end of the research study to ensure the integrity of the study and/or study oversight.

#### What if I want to refuse or end participation before the study is over?

Taking part in this study is your choice. You can choose to take part, or you can choose not to take part in this study. You also can change your mind at any time. Whatever choice you make, you will not lose access to your medical care or give up any legal rights or benefits.

We would still treat you with standard therapy or, at your request, refer you to a clinic or doctor who can offer this treatment. Not participating or withdrawing later will not harm your relationship with your own doctors or with this institution.

To withdraw from the study, you can call a member of the research team at any time and tell them that you no longer want to take part.

#### What will happen with my data if I stop participating?

Should you choose to withdraw from this study before its completion, data derived during the course of research will be de-identified and thus, rendered anonymous. Data will be unable to be withdrawn.

# Who should I contact if I have questions?

Please feel free to ask about anything you don't understand.

If you have questions later or if you have a research-related problem, you can call the Principal Investigators Kaitlin Fitzgerald, PA-S or Diana Richardson, MD at 999-999-9999.

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, or you have complaints about this research, you can call the Yale Institutional Review Board at (203) 785-4688 or email http://www.about.com/about.co

A description of this clinical trial will be available on <u>http://www.ClinicalTrials.gov</u>, as required by U.S. Law. This Web site will not include information that can identify you. At most, the web site will include a summary of the results. You can search this web site at any time.

# Authorization and Permission

Your signature below indicates that you have read this consent document and that you agree to be in this study.

We will give you a copy of this form.

Participant Printed Name	Participant Signature	Date						
Person Obtaining Consent Printed Name	Person Obtaining Consent Signature	Date						
Complete if the participant is not able to write legibly. This form should be signed by the research assistant delivering information about the research study, as well as a witness. Print name of research assistant:								
Signature of research assistant: Date:								
An oral translation of this document assistant proficient in English.	was administered to the participant by a r	esearch						
Print name of impartial witness:								
Signature of impartial witness:	Date:							

# Appendix I: Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA)



Rater:		date:		patient:			
5) Finger chase			6) Nose-finger test				
Rated separately for ease Proband sits comfortably, and trunk is allowed. Exa and performs 5 consecution movements in unpredictal at about 50 % of proband amplitude of 30 cm and a every 2 s. Proband is aske with his index finger, as f Average performance of 1	th side If necessary, suminer sits in fro- ve sudden and fa- ble directions in 's reach. Moven frequency of 1: ed to follow the e- last and precisely ast 3 movement	pport of feet nt of proband ast pointing a frontal plane, nents have an movement movements y as possible. s is rated.	Rated separately for each side Proband sits comfortably. If necessary, support of feet and trunk is allowed. Proband is asked to point repeatedly with his index finger from his nose to examiner's finger which is in front of the proband at about 90 % of proband's reach. Movements are performed at moderate speed. Average performance of movements is rated according to the amplitude of the kinetic tremor.				
0 No dysmetria			0	No tremor			
1 Dysmetria, under/ or	vershooting targe	st 🕹 cm	1	Tremor with an amplit	ude < 2 cm		
2 Dysmetria, under/ or	vershooting targe	et < 15 cm	2	Tremor with an amplit	ode < 5 cm		
3 Dysmetria, under/ or	vershooting targe	st> 15 cm	3	Tremor with an amplit	ode > 5 cm		
4 Unable to perform 5	pointing movem	ents	4	Unable to perform 5 po	ointing moveme	nts	
Score	Right	Left	Sc	ore	Right	Left	
mean of both sides (R	+L)/2		mean of both sides (R+L)/2				
7) Fast alternating h	and movem	ents	8) Hee⊩shin slide				
Rated separately for eac Proband sits comfortably, and trunk is allowed. Prol cycles of repetitive altern the hand on his/her thigh possible. Movement is de speed of approx. 10 cycle movement execution have 0 Normal, no irregular 1 Slightly irregular (pc 2 Clearly irregular, sin to distinguish or rele performs <10s 3 Very irregular, single	ch side If necessary, sub hand is asked to ation of pro- and as fast and as pr monstrated by e s within 7 s. Ex- to be taken. rities (performs « erforms «10») tgle movements of want interruption e movements diff	pport of feet perform 10 I supinations of ecise as xaminer at a act times for (10s) difficult ns, but	Rate Prob legs. to th ankle task be pr contr 0 1 2 3	ed separately for each and lies on examination Proband is asked to life e opposite knee, slide d a, and lay the leg back of is performed 3 times. S erformed within 1 s. If j act to shin in all three to Normal Slightly abnormal, con Clearly abnormal, goes during 3 cycles Severely abnormal, goes during 3 cycles Lingh to conform the	side a bed, without s t one leg, point iown along the s on the examinal dide-down mov proband slides of rials, rate 4. tact to shin mail s off shin up to 3 es off shin 4 or 1 tack	sight of his with the heel shin to the tion bed. The ements should down without ntained 3 times nore times	
to distinguish or rele performs >10s 4 Unable to complete 1	vant interruptio 10 cycles Diabt	ns,	4	Unable to perform the	Diaht	Latt	
Score	Hight	Len	Sc	ore	Hight	Len	
mean of both sides (R	(+L)/2		me	an of both sides (R+I	L)/2		

Physiopedia contributors. Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA). Secondary Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) 2020.

https://www.physiopedia.com/index.php?title=Scale\_for\_the\_Assessment\_and\_Rating\_of\_Ataxia\_(SARA)&oldid=230367.

Appendix J: Modified Rankin Scale (mRS)

Modified Rankin Scale (mRS)	Clinical Description
0	No symptoms.
1	No significant disability. Able to carry out all usual activities despite some symptoms.
2	Slight disability. Able to look after own affairs without assistance, but unable to carry out all previous activities.
3	Moderate disability. Requires some help, but able to walk unassisted.
4	Moderately severe disability. Unable to attend to own bodily needs without assistance. Unable to walk unassisted.
5	Severe disability. Requires constant nursing care and attention, bedridden, incontinent.
6	Dead.

Telischak NA, Wintermark M. Imaging predictors of procedural and clinical outcome in endovascular acute stroke therapy. Neurovascular Imaging 2015;**1**(1):4 doi: 10.1186/s40809-015-0004-z

Appendix K: Patient Fall Questionnaire

Patient No: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_ Training site: \_\_\_\_\_ Name of assessor: \_\_\_\_\_

What is a fall?

A fall is an event reported by the faller or a witness, resulting in a person inadvertently coming to rest on the ground or another lower level, with or without loss of consciousness or injury.

- 1. In the last 4 weeks, have you experienced a fall?
   Yes
   No
- 2. If you fell more than once in the last 4 weeks, how many times did you fall?
- 3. Did you lose consciousness during the event(s)? Yes No
- 4. Did your fall(s) result in injury requiring medical evaluation (e.g. fractures, concussion, bleeding in the brain)?
  - a. If yes, please describe below:

<b>Baseline Characteristics</b>	RAS $(n = 420)$	Control $(n = 420)$
Age (years)	· · · ·	, , ,
Under 50	Number, %	Number, %
50-69	Number, %	Number, %
60-69	Number, %	Number, %
70-79	Number, %	Number, %
80 or greater	Number, %	Number, %
Sex		
Male	Number, %	Number, %
Female	Number, %	Number, %
Education level	Median years ± IQR*	Median years ± IQR
Prior musical experience		
Yes	Number, %	Number, %
No	Number, %	Number, %
MMSE* score	Mean score $\pm$ SD*	Mean score $\pm$ SD
Age at stroke onset		
Under 50	Number, %	Number, %
50-69	Number, %	Number, %
60-69	Number, %	Number, %
70-79	Number, %	Number, %
80 or greater	Number, %	Number, %
Time since stroke onset		
3-12 months	Number, %	Number, %
1-2 years	Number, %	Number, %
2 years or greater	Number, %	Number, %
Stroke type		
Hemorrhagic	Number, %	Number, %
Ischemic	Number, %	Number, %
Vascular territory impacted		
AICA*	Number, %	Number, %
PICA*	Number, %	Number, %
SCA*	Number, %	Number, %
2 vascular territories	Number, %	Number, %
3 or more vascular territories	Number, %	Number, %
Lesion size (cm <sup>2</sup> )	Mean size ± SD	Mean size ± SD
Concurrent hemiparesis		
Yes	Number, %	Number, %
No	Number, %	Number, %
Presence of complication		
Edema	Number, %	Number, %
Herniation	Number, %	Number, %
Hydrocephalus	Number, %	Number, %
Brain stem involvement	Number, %	Number, %
Other	Number, %	Number, %
Surgical intervention		
Yes	Number, %	Number, %
No	Number, %	Number, %
Length of inpatient stay (days)	Mean time $\pm$ SD	Mean time ± SD

Appendix L: Patient Baseline Characteristics

\*MMSE: mini-mental state examination, \*AICA: anterior inferior cerebellar artery, \*PICA: posterior inferior cerebellar artery, \*SCA: superior cerebellar artery \*SD: standard deviation, \*IQR: interquartile range

Appendix M: Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation (RAS) Treatment Protocol

# Prior to training

Upon participant arrival, ensure that patients have proper training equipment (supportive footwear, non-restrictive clothing, etc.) and are ready to begin training. An accompanying physiotherapist must be present for the duration of the training session.

Prior to the start of training, provide patients with an MP3 player and headphones for the delivery of personalized-cadence music at a comfortable volume.

Therapists must document patient training information, including discontinuation or pausing of gait trials for any reasons, adverse events, patient complaints, and clinical notes.

# Training time: 30 minutes

5 minutes: Warm Up

- Instruct patients to begin listening to provided music at the beginning of training/warm-up
- Participants will be seated in a chair for the warm up
- Ask patients to tap their feet, nod their heads, and/or march in place in time with the cadence of the delivered beat

20 minutes: RAS training blocks (5, 2-minute trials) and breaks (5, 2-minute breaks)

- During delivery of RAS training, instruct patients to walk along a flat surface while matching his/her footfalls to the musical beat delivered through the MP3 player
  - Patients who feel unable to complete a trial due to fatigue, unsteadiness, dizziness, or other reason may discontinue the present gait trial. If comfortable and able, he/she may resume training as desired.
  - If patients are unable to match the delivered cadence, lower the delivered cadence to the most recent, highest, successfully-matched cadence.
- During breaks, patients should be asked to sit or stand comfortably

5 minutes: cool down

- Participants will be seated in a chair for the cool down
- Ask patients to tap their feet, nod their heads, and/or march in place in time with the cadence of the delivered beat
- Patients may continue to stretch if desired

# Appendix N: Timeline for Patient Recruitment and Data Collection

Recruitment	1 year		
Interventions	1.5 years		
Data collection	2 years		
		Last day of recruitment 1 year	Last day of intervention 1.5 years

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Akbar U, Ashizawa T. Ataxia. Neurologic clinics. 2015;33(1):225-248.
- 2. Albus JS. A theory of cerebellar function. *Mathematical Biosciences*. 1971;10(1):25-61.
- 3. Altenmuller E, Marco-Pallares J, Munte TF, Schneider S. Neural reorganization underlies improvement in stroke-induced motor dysfunction by music-supported therapy. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2009;1169:395-405.
- 4. Amengual JL, Rojo N, Veciana de Las Heras M, et al. Sensorimotor plasticity after musicsupported therapy in chronic stroke patients revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(4):e61883.
- 5. Ashizawa T, Xia G. Ataxia. *Continuum (Minneap Minn)*. 2016;22(4 Movement Disorders):1208-1226.
- 6. Ashoori A, Eagleman DM, Jankovic J. Effects of Auditory Rhythm and Music on Gait Disturbances in Parkinson's Disease. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2015;6:234-234.
- 7. Bagg S, Pombo Alicia P, Hopman W. Effect of Age on Functional Outcomes After Stroke Rehabilitation. *Stroke*. 2002;33(1):179-185.
- 8. Baram Y. Virtual Sensory Feedback for Gait Improvement in Neurological Patients. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2013;4(138).
- 9. Baram Y, Miller A. Auditory feedback control for improvement of gait in patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci.* 2007;254(1-2):90-94.
- 10. Battaglia F, Quartarone A, Ghilardi MF, et al. Unilateral cerebellar stroke disrupts movement preparation and motor imagery. *Clin Neurophysiol.* 2006;117(5):1009-1016.
- Belas Dos Santos M, Barros de Oliveira C, Dos Santos A, Garabello Pires C, Dylewski V, Arida RM. A Comparative Study of Conventional Physiotherapy versus Robot-Assisted Gait Training Associated to Physiotherapy in Individuals with Ataxia after Stroke. *Behav Neurol.* 2018;2018:2892065.
- 12. Bergado JF, Elizabeth & Peralta, Antonio & Jorge, Jorge & Rodríguez, Daymi. Motor improvement in cerebellar ataxia after integral rehabilitation. *Journal of Neurorestoratology*. 2013;31.
- 13. Bilney B, Morris ME, Churchyard A, Chiu E, Georgiou-Karistianis N. Evidence for a disorder of locomotor timing in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(1):51-57.
- 14. Blakemore SJ, Frith CD, Wolpert DM. The cerebellum is involved in predicting the sensory consequences of action. *Neuroreport.* 2001;12(9):1879-1884.
- 15. Bonni S, Ponzo V, Caltagirone C, Koch G. Cerebellar theta burst stimulation in stroke patients with ataxia. *Funct Neurol.* 2014;29(1):41-45.
- 16. Bostan AC, Dum RP, Strick PL. Cerebellar networks with the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 2013;17(5):241-254.
- 17. Boyd LA, Winstein CJ. Cerebellar Stroke Impairs Temporal but not Spatial Accuracy during Implicit Motor Learning. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2004;18(3):134-143.
- 18. Bradt J, Magee WL, Dileo C, Wheeler BL, McGilloway E. Music therapy for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2010(7):Cd006787.
- 19. Broderick JP, Adeoye O, Elm J. Evolution of the Modified Rankin Scale and Its Use in Future Stroke Trials. *Stroke*. 2017;48(7):2007-2012.
- 20. Brønnum-Hansen H, Davidsen M, Thorvaldsen P. Long-Term Survival and Causes of Death After Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(9):2131-2136.
- 21. Brownstone RM, Chopek JW. Reticulospinal Systems for Tuning Motor Commands. *Front Neural Circuits.* 2018;12:30-30.

- 22. Buckley E, Mazzà C, McNeill A. A systematic review of the gait characteristics associated with Cerebellar Ataxia. *Gait & Posture*. 2018;60:154-163.
- 23. Bultmann U, Pierscianek D, Gizewski ER, et al. Functional recovery and rehabilitation of postural impairment and gait ataxia in patients with acute cerebellar stroke. *Gait Posture*. 2014;39(1):563-569.
- 24. Calic Z, Cappelen-Smith C, Cuganesan R, Anderson CS, Welgampola M, Cordato DJ. Frequency, Aetiology, and Outcome of Small Cerebellar Infarction. *Cerebrovascular diseases extra*. 2017;7(3):173-180.
- 25. Caligiore D, Pezzulo G, Baldassarre G, et al. Consensus Paper: Towards a Systems-Level View of Cerebellar Function: the Interplay Between Cerebellum, Basal Ganglia, and Cortex. *Cerebellum.* 2017;16(1):203-229.
- 26. Callaly EL, Ni Chroinin D, Hannon N, et al. Falls and fractures 2 years after acute stroke: the North Dublin Population Stroke Study. *Age and Ageing*. 2015;44(5):882-886.
- 27. Cano LM, Cardona P, Quesada H, Mora P, Rubio F. [Cerebellar infarction: prognosis and complications of vascular territories]. *Neurologia*. 2012;27(6):330-335.
- 28. Celnik P. The role of the cerebellum on motor recovery following stroke. *Brain Stimulation: Basic, Translational, and Clinical Research in Neuromodulation.* 2017;10(2):500.
- 29. Choi S-M. Movement Disorders Following Cerebrovascular Lesions in Cerebellar Circuits. J Mov Disord. 2016;9(2):80-88.
- 30. Choi SW, Han N, Jung SH, Kim HD, Eom MJ, Bae HW. Evaluation of Ataxia in Mild Ischemic Stroke Patients Using the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA). *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2018;42(3):375-383.
- 31. Chua KS, Kong KH. Functional outcome in brain stem stroke patients after rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1996;77(2):194-197.
- 32. Churchyard AJ, Morris ME, Georgiou N, Chiu E, Cooper R, Iansek R. Gait dysfunction in Huntington's disease: parkinsonism and a disorder of timing. Implications for movement rehabilitation. *Adv Neurol.* 2001;87:375-385.
- 33. Conklyn D, Stough D, Novak E, Paczak S, Chemali K, Bethoux F. A home-based walking program using rhythmic auditory stimulation improves gait performance in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair.* 2010;24(9):835-842.
- 34. contributors P. Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA). Physiopedia Web site. https://www.physio-pedia.com/index.php?title=Scale\_for\_the\_Assessment\_and\_Rating\_of\_Ataxia\_(SARA)&old id=230367. Published 2020. Accessed, 05:23.
- 35. Cramer SC. Repairing the human brain after stroke: I. Mechanisms of spontaneous recovery. *Annals of Neurology.* 2008;63(3):272-287.
- 36. Cranston JS, Kaplan BD, Saver JL. Minimal Clinically Important Difference for Safe and Simple Novel Acute Ischemic Stroke Therapies. *Stroke*. 2017;48(11):2946-2951.
- 37. Cury RG, Teixeira MJ, Galhardoni R, et al. Neuronavigation-guided transcranial magnetic stimulation of the dentate nucleus improves cerebellar ataxia: A sham-controlled, double-blind n = 1 study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord.* 2015;21(8):999-1001.
- 38. Delval A, Krystkowiak P, Delliaux M, et al. Effect of external cueing on gait in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord.* 2008;23(10):1446-1452.
- 39. Devlin K, Alshaikh JT, Pantelyat A. Music Therapy and Music-Based Interventions for Movement Disorders. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 2019;19(11):83.
- 40. Diedrichsen J, Criscimagna-Hemminger SE, Shadmehr R. Dissociating timing and coordination as functions of the cerebellum. *J Neurosci.* 2007;27(23):6291-6301.

- 41. Diedrichsen J, Verstynen T, Lehman SL, Ivry RB. Cerebellar Involvement in Anticipating the Consequences of Self-Produced Actions During Bimanual Movements. *Journal of Neurophysiology*. 2005;93(2):801-812.
- 42. Diener HC, Dichgans J. Pathophysiology of cerebellar ataxia. *Mov Disord*. 1992;7(2):95-109.
- 43. Dobkin BH, Dorsch A. New evidence for therapies in stroke rehabilitation. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2013;15(6):331-331.
- 44. Doyon J, Gaudreau D, Laforce R, Jr., et al. Role of the striatum, cerebellum, and frontal lobes in the learning of a visuomotor sequence. *Brain Cogn.* 1997;34(2):218-245.
- 45. Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Horner RD, Landsman PB, Samsa GP, Matchar DB. Similar motor recovery of upper and lower extremities after stroke. *Stroke*. 1994;25(6):1181-1188.
- 46. Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Matchar D, Divine GW, Feussner J. Measurement of motor recovery after stroke. Outcome assessment and sample size requirements. *Stroke*. 1992;23(8):1084-1089.
- 47. Ebersbach G, Sojer M, Valldeoriola F, et al. Comparative analysis of gait in Parkinson's disease, cerebellar ataxia and subcortical arteriosclerotic encephalopathy. *Brain.* 1999;122 (Pt 7):1349-1355.
- 48. Edlow JA, Newman-Toker DE, Savitz SI. Diagnosis and initial management of cerebellar infarction. *Lancet Neurol.* 2008;7(10):951-964.
- 49. Fan F, Zhu C, Chen H, et al. Dynamic brain structural changes after left hemisphere subcortical stroke. *Hum Brain Mapp.* 2013;34(8):1872-1881.
- 50. Farias da Guarda SN, Cohen LG, da Cunha Pinho M, et al. Interhemispheric asymmetry of corticomotor excitability after chronic cerebellar infarcts. *Cerebellum*. 2010;9(3):398-404.
- 51. Fling BW, Dutta GG, Schlueter H, Cameron MH, Horak FB. Associations between Proprioceptive Neural Pathway Structural Connectivity and Balance in People with Multiple Sclerosis. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2014;8:814-814.
- 52. Fonteyn EMR, Schmitz-Hübsch T, Verstappen CC, et al. Falls in Spinocerebellar Ataxias: Results of the EuroSCA Fall Study. *The Cerebellum.* 2010;9(2):232-239.
- 53. Ford MP, Malone LA, Nyikos I, Yelisetty R, Bickel CS. Gait Training With Progressive External Auditory Cueing in Persons With Parkinson's Disease. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2010;91(8):1255-1261.
- 54. Fulk GD, He Y. Minimal Clinically Important Difference of the 6-Minute Walk Test in People With Stroke. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy*. 2018;42(4):235-240.
- 55. Ganesh A, Luengo-Fernandez R, Wharton RM, Rothwell PM, Oxford Vascular S. Ordinal vs dichotomous analyses of modified Rankin Scale, 5-year outcome, and cost of stroke. *Neurology.* 2018;91(21):e1951-e1960.
- 56. Ghai S, Ghai I. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Cueing in Gait Rehabilitation for Multiple Sclerosis: A Mini Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2018;9(386).
- 57. Ghai S, Ghai I. Effects of (music-based) rhythmic auditory cueing training on gait and posture post-stroke: A systematic review & dose-response meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9(1):2183.
- 58. Ghai S, Ghai I, Effenberg AO. Effect of rhythmic auditory cueing on gait in cerebral palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2018;14:43-59.
- 59. Ghai S, Ghai I, Schmitz G, Effenberg AO. Effect of rhythmic auditory cueing on parkinsonian gait: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*. 2018;8(1):506.
- 60. Goh HT, Nadarajah M, Hamzah NB, Varadan P, Tan MP. Falls and Fear of Falling After Stroke: A Case-Control Study. *Pm r.* 2016;8(12):1173-1180.

- 61. Gómez-Beldarrain M, García-Moncó JC, Rubio B, Pascual-Leone A. Effect of focal cerebellar lesions on procedural learning in the serial reaction time task. *Experimental Brain Research*. 1998;120(1):25-30.
- 62. Green J, Forster A, Young J. Reliability of gait speed measured by a timed walking test in patients one year after stroke. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2002;16(3):306-314.
- 63. Hadjivassiliou M, Martindale J, Shanmugarajah P, et al. Causes of progressive cerebellar ataxia: prospective evaluation of 1500 patients. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry.* 2017;88(4):301-309.
- 64. Hausdorff JM, Lowenthal J, Herman T, Gruendlinger L, Peretz C, Giladi N. Rhythmic auditory stimulation modulates gait variability in Parkinson's disease. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. 2007;26(8):2369-2375.
- 65. Hausdorff JM, Rios DA, Edelberg HK. Gait variability and fall risk in community-living older adults: a 1-year prospective study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2001;82(8):1050-1056.
- 66. Hayden R, Clair AA, Johnson G, Otto D. THE EFFECT OF RHYTHMIC AUDITORY STIMULATION (RAS) ON PHYSICAL THERAPY OUTCOMES FOR PATIENTS IN GAIT TRAINING FOLLOWING STROKE: A FEASIBILITY STUDY. *International Journal of Neuroscience*. 2009;119(12):2183-2195.
- 67. Hendricks HT, van Limbeek J, Geurts AC, Zwarts MJ. Motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review of the literature. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(11):1629-1637.
- 68. Holmes G. THE SYMPTOMS OF ACUTE CEREBELLAR INJURIES DUE TO GUNSHOT INJURIES. *Brain.* 1917;40(4):461-535.
- 69. Honda T, Nagao S, Hashimoto Y, et al. Tandem internal models execute motor learning in the cerebellum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2018;115(28):7428-7433.
- 70. Hornig CR, Rust DS, Busse O, Jauss M, Laun A. Space-occupying cerebellar infarction. Clinical course and prognosis. *Stroke*. 1994;25(2):372-374.
- 71. Ilg W, Giese MA, Gizewski ER, Schoch B, Timmann D. The influence of focal cerebellar lesions on the control and adaptation of gait. *Brain.* 2008;131(Pt 11):2913-2927.
- 72. Ilg W, Timmann D. Gait ataxia—specific cerebellar influences and their rehabilitation. *Movement Disorders.* 2013;28(11):1566-1575.
- 73. Ioannides K, Tadi P, Naqvi IA. Cerebellar Infarct. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2019.
- 74. Ito M. Mechanisms of motor learning in the cerebellum. Brain Res. 2000;886(1-2):237-245.
- 75. Jauss M, Krieger D, Hornig C, Schramm J, Busse O. Surgical and medical management of patients with massive cerebellar infarctions: results of the German-Austrian Cerebellar Infarction Study. *J Neurol.* 1999;246(4):257-264.
- 76. Jeste DV, Barban L, Parisi J. Reduced Purkinje cell density in Huntington's disease. *Exp Neurol.* 1984;85(1):78-86.
- 77. Jorgensen HS, Nakayama H, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of walking function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1995;76(1):27-32.
- 78. Jueptner M, Ottinger S, Fellows SJ, et al. The relevance of sensory input for the cerebellar control of movements. *Neuroimage*. 1997;5(1):41-48.
- 79. Juttler E, Schweickert S, Ringleb PA, Huttner HB, Kohrmann M, Aschoff A. Long-term outcome after surgical treatment for space-occupying cerebellar infarction: experience in 56 patients. *Stroke*. 2009;40(9):3060-3066.
- 80. Kanis J, Oden A, Johnell O. Acute and Long-Term Increase in Fracture Risk After Hospitalization for Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(3):702-706.
- 81. Kawato M, Furukawa K, Suzuki R. A hierarchical neural-network model for control and learning of voluntary movement. *Biological Cybernetics*. 1987;57(3):169-185.

- 82. Kelly PJ, Stein J, Shafqat S, et al. Functional Recovery After Rehabilitation for Cerebellar Stroke. *Stroke*. 2001;32(2):530-534.
- 83. Kim B-R, Lim J-H, Lee SA, et al. Usefulness of the Scale for the Assessment and Rating of Ataxia (SARA) in Ataxic Stroke Patients. *Ann Rehabil Med.* 2011;35(6):772-780.
- 84. Kim J, Lee S-K, Lee JD, Kim YW, Kim DI. Decreased Fractional Anisotropy of Middle Cerebellar Peduncle in Crossed Cerebellar Diaschisis: Diffusion-Tensor Imaging-Positron-Emission Tomography Correlation Study. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*. 2005;26(9):2224.
- 85. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, Cho SR. Differential effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation and neurodevelopmental treatment/Bobath on gait patterns in adults with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil.* 2012;26(10):904-914.
- 86. Kim SJ, Kwak EE, Park ES, et al. Changes in gait patterns with rhythmic auditory stimulation in adults with cerebral palsy. *NeuroRehabilitation*. 2011;29(3):233-241.
- 87. Kinomoto K, Takayama Y, Watanabe T, et al. The mechanisms of recovery from cerebellar infarction: an fMRI study. *Neuroreport.* 2003;14(13):1671-1675.
- 88. Kobinata N, Ueno M, Imanishi Y, Yoshikawa H. Immediate effects of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait in stroke patients in relation to the lesion site. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2016;28(9):2441-2444.
- Koch G, Bonni S, Casula EP, et al. Effect of Cerebellar Stimulation on Gait and Balance Recovery in Patients With Hemiparetic Stroke: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol. 2019;76(2):170-178.
- 90. Kollen BJ, Lennon S, Lyons B, et al. The effectiveness of the Bobath concept in stroke rehabilitation: what is the evidence? *Stroke*. 2009;40(4):e89-97.
- 91. Korn-Lubetzki I, Molshatzki N, Benderly M, Steiner I. The Relatively Good Outcome of Cerebellum-Brainstem Ischemic Strokes. *European Neurology*. 2013;69(1):8-13.
- 92. Kornegay JN. Ataxia, dysmetria, tremor. Cerebellar diseases. *Probl Vet Med.* 1991;3(3):409-416.
- 93. Koski L, Mernar TJ, Dobkin BH. Immediate and Long-Term Changes in Corticomotor Output in Response to Rehabilitation: Correlation with Functional Improvements in Chronic Stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2004;18(4):230-249.
- 94. Krishna R, Pathirana PN, Horne M, Power L, Szmulewicz DJ. Quantitative assessment of cerebellar ataxia, through automated limb functional tests. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*. 2019;16(1):31.
- 95. Kurtzke JF. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*. 1983;33(11):1444-1452.
- 96. Lang CE, Bastian AJ. Cerebellar damage impairs automaticity of a recently practiced movement. *J Neurophysiol.* 2002;87(3):1336-1347.
- 97. Langhorne P, Bernhardt J, Kwakkel G. Stroke rehabilitation. *The Lancet*. 2011;377(9778):1693-1702.
- 98. Langhorne P, Wagenaar R, Partridge C. Physiotherapy after stroke: More is better? *Physiotherapy Research International.* 1996;1(2):75-88.
- 99. Lee H, Sohn S-I, Cho Y-W, et al. Cerebellar infarction presenting isolated vertigo. *Frequency and vascular topographical patterns*. 2006;67(7):1178-1183.
- 100. Lee KB, Lim SH, Kim KH, et al. Six-month functional recovery of stroke patients: a multitime-point study. *Int J Rehabil Res.* 2015;38(2):173-180.
- 101. Lee S, Lee K, Song C. Gait Training with Bilateral Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation in Stroke Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Brain Sci.* 2018;8(9):164.
- 102. Lee SH, Lee KJ, Song CH. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation (RAS) on Gait Ability and Symmetry after Stroke. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2012;24(4):311-314.

- 103. Leow LA, Rinchon C, Grahn J. Familiarity with music increases walking speed in rhythmic auditory cuing. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* 2015;1337:53-61.
- 104. Lim I, van Wegen E, de Goede C, et al. Effects of external rhythmical cueing on gait in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2005;19(7):695-713.
- 105. Louis EK, Wijdicks EFM, Li H, Atkinson JD. Predictors of Poor Outcome in Patients with a Spontaneous Cerebellar Hematoma. *Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences / Journal Canadian des Sciences Neurologiques.* 2000;27(1):32-36.
- 106. Macdonell RA, Kalnins RM, Donnan GA. Cerebellar infarction: natural history, prognosis, and pathology. *Stroke*. 1987;18(5):849-855.
- 107. Maderwald S, Thürling M, Küper M, et al. Direct visualization of cerebellar nuclei in patients with focal cerebellar lesions and its application for lesion-symptom mapping. *NeuroImage*. 2012;63(3):1421-1431.
- 108. Magee WL, Clark I, Tamplin J, Bradt J. Music interventions for acquired brain injury. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;1:Cd006787.
- 109. Mai N, Diener H-C, Dichgans J. On the role of feedback in maintaining constant grip force in patients with cerebellar disease. *Neuroscience Letters*. 1989;99(3):340-344.
- Mainka S, Wissel J, Völler H, Evers S. The Use of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation to Optimize Treadmill Training for Stroke Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Frontiers in neurology*. 2018;9:755-755.
- 111. Malm J, Kristensen B, Karlsson T, Carlberg B, Fagerlund M, Olsson T. Cognitive impairment in young adults with infratentorial infarcts. *Neurology*. 1998;51(2):433-440.
- 112. Manto M, Bower JM, Conforto AB, et al. Consensus paper: roles of the cerebellum in motor control--the diversity of ideas on cerebellar involvement in movement. *Cerebellum*. 2012;11(2):457-487.
- 113. Marquer A, Barbieri G, Perennou D. The assessment and treatment of postural disorders in cerebellar ataxia: a systematic review. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med.* 2014;57(2):67-78.
- 114. Marr D. A theory of cerebellar cortex. J Physiol. 1969;202(2):437-470.
- 115. Marsden J, Harris C. Cerebellar ataxia: pathophysiology and rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 2011;25(3):195-216.
- 116. Martin CL, Tan D, Bragge P, Bialocerkowski A. Effectiveness of physiotherapy for adults with cerebellar dysfunction: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil.* 2009;23(1):15-26.
- 117. Masuda Y, Tei H, Shimizu S, Uchiyama S. Factors Associated with the Misdiagnosis of Cerebellar Infarction. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases.* 2013;22(7):1125-1130.
- 118. Mauk MD, Medina JF, Nores WL, Ohyama T. Cerebellar function: Coordination, learning or timing? *Current Biology*. 2000;10(14):R522-R525.
- 119. McIntosh GC, Brown SH, Rice RR, Thaut MH. Rhythmic auditory-motor facilitation of gait patterns in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1997;62(1):22-26.
- 120. Mikolajewska E. Associations between results of post-stroke NDT-Bobath rehabilitation in gait parameters, ADL and hand functions. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* 2013;22(5):731-738.
- 121. Molinari M, Leggio MG, De Martin M, Cerasa A, Thaut M. Neurobiology of rhythmic motor entrainment. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2003;999:313-321.
- 122. Molinari M, Leggio MG, Solida A, et al. Cerebellum and procedural learning: evidence from focal cerebellar lesions. *Brain.* 1997;120 (Pt 10):1753-1762.
- 123. Morton SM, Tseng YW, Zackowski KM, Daline JR, Bastian AJ. Longitudinal tracking of gait and balance impairments in cerebellar disease. *Mov Disord.* 2010;25(12):1944-1952.
- 124. Moumdjian L, Buhmann J, Willems I, Feys P, Leman M. Entrainment and Synchronization to Auditory Stimuli During Walking in Healthy and Neurological Populations: A Methodological Systematic Review. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2018;12:263-263.

- 125. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2016 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2016;133(4):e38-360.
- 126. Nascimento LR, de Oliveira CQ, Ada L, Michaelsen SM, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Walking training with cueing of cadence improves walking speed and stride length after stroke more than walking training alone: a systematic review. *J Physiother.* 2015;61(1):10-15.
- 127. Neugebauer H, Witsch J, Zweckberger K, Juttler E. Space-occupying cerebellar infarction: complications, treatment, and outcome. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2013;34(5):E8.
- 128. Ng ZX, Yang WR, Seet E, et al. Cerebellar strokes: a clinical outcome review of 79 cases. *Singapore Med J.* 2015;56(3):145-149.
- 129. Nickel A, Cheng B, Pinnschmidt H, et al. Clinical Outcome of Isolated Cerebellar Stroke— A Prospective Observational Study. *Frontiers in Neurology*. 2018;9(580).
- 130. Oh Y-s, Kim H-s, Woo Y-k. Effects of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation Using Music on Gait With Stroke Patients. *Physical Therapy Korea*. 2015;22(3):81-90.
- 131. Park IM, Oh D-W, Kim S-Y, Choi JD. Clinical Feasibility of Integrating Fast-Tempo Auditory Stimulation with Self-Adopted Walking Training for Improving Walking Function in Post-Stroke Patients: A Randomized, Controlled Pilot Trial. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2010;22:295-300.
- 132. Pedroso JL, Vale TC, Braga-Neto P, et al. Acute cerebellar ataxia: differential diagnosis and clinical approach. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*. 2019;77:184-193.
- 133. Pfefferkorn T, Eppinger U, Linn J, et al. Long-term outcome after suboccipital decompressive craniectomy for malignant cerebellar infarction. *Stroke.* 2009;40(9):3045-3050.
- 134. Picelli A, Zuccher P, Tomelleri G, et al. Prognostic Importance of Lesion Location on Functional Outcome in Patients with Cerebellar Ischemic Stroke: a Prospective Pilot Study. *Cerebellum.* 2017;16(1):257-261.
- 135. Plotnik M, Shema S, Dorfman M, et al. A motor learning-based intervention to ameliorate freezing of gait in subjects with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol.* 2014;261(7):1329-1339.
- 136. Pollock A, Baer G, Campbell P, et al. Physical rehabilitation approaches for the recovery of function and mobility following stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2014(4):Cd001920.
- 137. Pong V, Chan KH, Chong BH, et al. Long-term outcome and prognostic factors after spontaneous cerebellar hemorrhage. *Cerebellum*. 2012;11(4):939-945.
- 138. Pouwels S, Lalmohamed A, Leufkens B, et al. Risk of Hip/Femur Fracture After Stroke. *Stroke*. 2009;40(10):3281-3285.
- 139. Ripollés P, Rojo N, Grau-Sánchez J, et al. Music supported therapy promotes motor plasticity in individuals with chronic stroke. *Brain Imaging and Behavior*. 2016;10(4):1289-1307.
- 140. Robertson MC, Campbell AJ, Herbison P. Statistical Analysis of Efficacy in Falls Prevention Trials. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*. 2005;60(4):530-534.
- 141. Rodriguez-Fornells A, Rojo N, Amengual JL, Ripolles P, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. The involvement of audio-motor coupling in the music-supported therapy applied to stroke patients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2012;1252:282-293.
- 142. Rojo N, Amengual J, Juncadella M, et al. Music-supported therapy induces plasticity in the sensorimotor cortex in chronic stroke: a single-case study using multimodal imaging (fMRI-TMS). *Brain Inj.* 2011;25(7-8):787-793.
- 143. Roostaei T, Nazeri A, Sahraian MA, Minagar A. The human cerebellum: a review of physiologic neuroanatomy. *Neurol Clin.* 2014;32(4):859-869.
- 144. Rubenstein LZ, Robbins AS, Josephson KR, Schulman BL, Osterweil D. The value of assessing falls in an elderly population. A randomized clinical trial. *Ann Intern Med.* 1990;113(4):308-316.

- 145. Saloheimo P, Lapp TM, Juvela S, Hillbom M. The impact of functional status at three months on long-term survival after spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2006;37(2):487-491.
- 146. Särkämö T, Tervaniemi M, Huotilainen M. Music perception and cognition: development, neural basis, and rehabilitative use of music. *WIREs Cognitive Science*. 2013;4(4):441-451.
- 147. Sathian K, Buxbaum LJ, Cohen LG, et al. Neurological principles and rehabilitation of action disorders: common clinical deficits. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2011;25(5 Suppl):21s-32s.
- 148. Savitz SI, Caplan LR, Edlow JA. Pitfalls in the Diagnosis of Cerebellar Infarction. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 2007;14(1):63-68.
- 149. Schauer M, Mauritz KH. Musical motor feedback (MMF) in walking hemiparetic stroke patients: randomized trials of gait improvement. *Clin Rehabil.* 2003;17(7):713-722.
- 150. Schmahmann JD, Gardner R, MacMore J, Vangel MG. Development of a brief ataxia rating scale (BARS) based on a modified form of the ICARS. *Movement Disorders*. 2009;24(12):1820-1828.
- 151. Schmitz-Hübsch T, du Montcel ST, Baliko L, et al. Scale for the assessment and rating of ataxia. *Development of a new clinical scale*. 2006;66(11):1717-1720.
- 152. Schneider S, Schonle PW, Altenmuller E, Munte TF. Using musical instruments to improve motor skill recovery following a stroke. *J Neurol.* 2007;254(10):1339-1346.
- 153. Schneider S, xfc, nte T, et al. Music-Supported Training is More Efficient than Functional Motor Training for Recovery of Fine Motor Skills in Stroke Patients. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal.* 2010;27(4):271-280.
- 154. Schniepp R, Wuehr M, Schlick C, et al. Increased gait variability is associated with the history of falls in patients with cerebellar ataxia. *Journal of Neurology*. 2014;261(1):213-223.
- 155. Schoch B, Dimitrova A, Gizewski ER, Timmann D. Functional localization in the human cerebellum based on voxelwise statistical analysis: a study of 90 patients. *Neuroimage*. 2006;30(1):36-51.
- 156. Schoch B, Regel JP, Frings M, et al. Reliability and validity of ICARS in focal cerebellar lesions. *Movement Disorders*. 2007;22(15):2162-2169.
- 157. Schwartz AE, van Walsem MR, Brean A, Frich JC. Therapeutic Use of Music, Dance, and Rhythmic Auditory Cueing for Patients with Huntington's Disease: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Huntington's disease*. 2019;8(4):393-420.
- 158. Seebacher B, Kuisma R, Glynn A, Berger T. The effect of rhythmic-cued motor imagery on walking, fatigue and quality of life in people with multiple sclerosis: A randomised controlled trial. *Mult Scler.* 2017;23(2):286-296.
- 159. Shahraki M, Sohrabi M, Taheri Torbati HR, Nikkhah K, NaeimiKia M. Effect of rhythmic auditory stimulation on gait kinematic parameters of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Med Life*. 2017;10(1):33-37.
- 160. Shin YK, Chong HJ, Kim SJ, Cho SR. Effect of Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation on Hemiplegic Gait Patterns. *Yonsei Med J.* 2015;56(6):1703-1713.
- 161. Sokolov AA, Miall RC, Ivry RB. The Cerebellum: Adaptive Prediction for Movement and Cognition. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 2017;21(5):313-332.
- 162. Spampinato DA, Block HJ, Celnik PA. Cerebellar–M1 Connectivity Changes Associated with Motor Learning Are Somatotopic Specific. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. 2017;37(9):2377-2386.
- 163. Spaulding SJ, Barber B, Colby M, Cormack B, Mick T, Jenkins ME. Cueing and Gait Improvement Among People With Parkinson's Disease: A Meta-Analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2013;94(3):562-570.

- 164. Stein J. Cerebellar forward models to control movement. J Physiol. 2009;587(2):299-299.
- 165. Stolze H, Klebe S, Petersen G, et al. Typical features of cerebellar ataxic gait. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry.* 2002;73(3):310-312.
- 166. Stoodley CJ, MacMore JP, Makris N, Sherman JC, Schmahmann JD. Location of lesion determines motor vs. cognitive consequences in patients with cerebellar stroke. *Neuroimage Clin.* 2016;12:765-775.
- Storey E, Tuck K, Hester R, Hughes A, Churchyard A. Inter-rater reliability of the International Cooperative Ataxia Rating Scale (ICARS). *Movement Disorders*. 2004;19(2):190-192.
- 168. Teasell R, Foley N, Doherty T, Finestone H. Clinical characteristics of patients with brainstem strokes admitted to a rehabilitation unit. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2002;83(7):1013-1016.
- 169. Teixeira MJ, Cury RG, Galhardoni R, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the dentate nucleus improves cerebellar ataxia after cerebellar stroke. *Neurology*. 2015;85(23):2075-2076.
- 170. Telischak NA, Wintermark M. Imaging predictors of procedural and clinical outcome in endovascular acute stroke therapy. *Neurovascular Imaging*. 2015;1(1):4.
- 171. Thaut MH, Leins AK, Rice RR, et al. Rhythmic auditory stimulation improves gait more than NDT/Bobath training in near-ambulatory patients early poststroke: a single-blind, randomized trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2007;21(5):455-459.
- 172. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC. Neurologic Music Therapy in Stroke Rehabilitation. *Current Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Reports*. 2014;2(2):106-113.
- 173. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Hoemberg V. Neurobiological foundations of neurologic music therapy: rhythmic entrainment and the motor system. *Front Psychol.* 2015;5:1185-1185.
- 174. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR. Rhythmic facilitation of gait training in hemiparetic stroke rehabilitation. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 1997;151(2):207-212.
- 175. Thaut MH, McIntosh GC, Rice RR, Miller RA, Rathbun J, Brault JM. Rhythmic auditory stimulation in gait training for Parkinson's disease patients. *Mov Disord*. 1996;11(2):193-200.
- 176. Thaut MH, Miltner R, Lange HW, Hurt CP, Hoemberg V. Velocity modulation and rhythmic synchronization of gait in Huntington's disease. *Movement Disorders*. 1999;14(5):808-819.
- 177. Thaut MH, Rice RR, Braun Janzen T, Hurt-Thaut CP, McIntosh GC. Rhythmic auditory stimulation for reduction of falls in Parkinson's disease: a randomized controlled study. *Clin Rehabil.* 2019;33(1):34-43.
- 178. Tilson JK, Sullivan KJ, Cen SY, et al. Meaningful gait speed improvement during the first 60 days poststroke: minimal clinically important difference. *Phys Ther.* 2010;90(2):196-208.
- 179. Tohgi H, Takahashi S, Chiba K, Hirata Y. Cerebellar infarction. Clinical and neuroimaging analysis in 293 patients. The Tohoku Cerebellar Infarction Study Group. *Stroke*. 1993;24(11):1697-1701.
- 180. Trouillas P, Takayanagi T, Hallett M, et al. International Cooperative Ataxia Rating Scale for pharmacological assessment of the cerebellar syndrome. The Ataxia Neuropharmacology Committee of the World Federation of Neurology. *J Neurol Sci.* 1997;145(2):205-211.
- 181. Tsitsopoulos PP, Tobieson L, Enblad P, Marklund N. Clinical outcome following surgical treatment for bilateral cerebellar infarction. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*. 2011;123(5):345-351.
- 182. van Bruggen-Rufi MC, Vink AC, Wolterbeek R, Achterberg WP, Roos RA. The Effect of Music Therapy in Patients with Huntington's Disease: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Huntingtons Dis. 2017;6(1):63-72.
- 183. van de Warrenburg BPC, Steijns JAG, Munneke M, Kremer BPH, Bloem BR. Falls in degenerative cerebellar ataxias. *Movement Disorders*. 2005;20(4):497-500.

- 184. Verheyden G, Nieuwboer A, De Wit L, et al. Time Course of Trunk, Arm, Leg, and Functional Recovery After Ischemic Stroke. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*. 2007;22(2):173-179.
- 185. Wajda DA, Sosnoff JJ. Cognitive-motor interference in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of evidence, correlates, and consequences. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:720856-720856.
- 186. Wallace D, Duncan PW, Lai SM. Comparison of the responsiveness of the Barthel Index and the Motor Component of the Functional Independence Measure in stroke: The impact of using different methods for measuring responsiveness. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*. 2002;55(9):922-928.
- 187. Wan CY, Schlaug G. Music making as a tool for promoting brain plasticity across the life span. *Neuroscientist.* 2010;16(5):566-577.
- 188. Winser S, Smith CM, Hale LA, et al. Psychometric Properties of a Core Set of Measures of Balance for People With Cerebellar Ataxia Secondary to Multiple Sclerosis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2017;98(2):270-276.
- 189. Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, et al. Guidelines for Adult Stroke Rehabilitation and Recovery. *Stroke*. 2016;47(6):e98-e169.
- 190. Wittwer JE, Webster KE, Hill K. Rhythmic auditory cueing to improve walking in patients with neurological conditions other than Parkinson's disease--what is the evidence? *Disabil Rehabil.* 2013;35(2):164-176.
- 191. Wolpert DM, Miall RC, Kawato M. Internal models in the cerebellum. *Trends Cogn Sci.* 1998;2(9):338-347.
- 192. Wright J, Huang C, Strbian D, Sundararajan S. Diagnosis and Management of Acute Cerebellar Infarction. *Stroke*. 2014;45(4):e56-e58.
- 193. Wright RL, Bevins JW, Pratt D, Sackley CM, Wing AM. Metronome Cueing of Walking Reduces Gait Variability after a Cerebellar Stroke. *Front Neurol.* 2016;7:84.
- 194. Wu X, Guarino P, Lo AC, Peduzzi P, Wininger M. Long-term Effectiveness of Intensive Therapy in Chronic Stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*. 2016;30(6):583-590.
- 195. Yao M, Chen J, Jing J, Sheng H, Tan X, Jin J. Defining the rehabilitation adherence curve and adherence phases of stroke patients: an observational study. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. 2017;11:1435-1441.
- 196. Yoo GE, Kim SJ. Rhythmic Auditory Cueing in Motor Rehabilitation for Stroke Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Music Ther.* 2016;53(2):149-177.
- 197. Zhang Y, Cai J, Zhang Y, Ren T, Zhao M, Zhao Q. Improvement in Stroke-induced Motor Dysfunction by Music-supported Therapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Scientific reports.* 2016;6:38521-38521.